Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

### DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN BIOLOGIA CELLULARE E MOLECOLARE

Ciclo XXIX

Settore Concorsuale di afferenza: 05/D1 Settore Scientifico disciplinare: SSD BIO/09 - Fisiologia

#### IDENTIFICATION OF MOLECULAR AND FUNCTIONAL MECHANISMS BEHIND CELL VOLUME REGULATION IN ASTROCYTES

Presentata da: Francesco Formaggio

**Coordinatore Dottorato** 

Giovanni Capranico

Relatore

Barbara Monti

Esame finale anno 2017

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

I: INTRODUCTION	3
1 CELL VOLUME REGULATION	4
1.1 INORGANIC AND ORGANIC OSMOLYTES	6
1.2 MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN CELL VOLUME REGULATION	7
1.2.1 VOLUME SENSORS	7 7
1.2.3 INTEGRINS	8
1.2.4 TRANSIENT RECEPTOR POTENTIALS	8
1.3 EFFECTORS IN CELL VOLUME REGULATION	10
1.3.1 REGOLATORY VOLUME DECREASE (RVD)	10
1.3.2 POTASSIUM CHANNELS	10
1.3.3 VOLUME-REGULATED CL- CHANNELS	11
1.3.4 KCI SYMPORT	11
1.3.5 CELL VOLUME IN PHYSIOLOGICAL PROCESSES	12
ION CHANNELS	14
2.1 GLIAL CELLS: PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE WITHIN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM.	14
2.1.1 ASTROCYTES	15
2.1.2 MICROGLIA	15
2.1.4 EPENDYMAL CELLS.	17
2.2. ASTROCYTES AND VOLUME HOMEOSTASIS IN THE CNS	18
2.3 ASTROCYTES PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS IN HOMEOSTASIS	19
2.3.1 GLUTAMATE METABOLISM	19
2.3.2 POTASSIUM BUFFERING.	19
2.4 BRAIN VOLUME REGULATION: ROLE OF ASTROCYTES AND ION CHANNELS	22
2. 5 ASTROGLIAL ION CHANNELS IN VOLUME REGULATION	24
2.5.1 AQUAPORIN 4 2.5.2 TRPV4	24 25
2.5.3 VRAC	26
2.6 INTERACTION BETWEEN ION CHANNELS AND AQUAPORINS IN VOLUME	
REGULATION	28
2.6.1 AOP4 AND KIR 4.1	28
2.6.2 AQP4 AND VRAC	
2.6.3AQP4 AND TRPV4	29

II AIM OF THE STUDY	. 30
III MATERIAL AND METHODS	33
3.1 CELL CULTURE 3.1.1 ASTROCYTES	. 34 . 34
3.2 COS-7	. 35 35
3.3 ANTIBODIES	35
3.4 IMMUNOBLOT ANALYSIS IN COS-7	36
3.5 ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY	36
3.6 SOLUTIONS AND CHEMICALS	38
3.7 CALCIUM MICROFLUORIMETRY	.38
3.8 BRAIN SECTIONS AND IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE	.39
3.9 FIXATION AND TISSUE PROCESSING	40
3.10 IMMUNOGOLD HISTOCHEMISTRY	.40
3.11 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	.41
IV RESULTS	42
4.1 TREV4 MEDIATES INTRACELEULAR CALCIUM ELEVATION OFON HTFOTONIC	12
4.2 TREVA AND A OPA CO EXPRESSION IS CRITICAL FOR VOLUME REGULATED ANION	43
4.2 TRI V4 AND AQI4 CO-EXI RESSION IS CRITICAL FOR VOLUME REGULATED AMON	16
4 3 AOP4 AND TRPV4 PROTEIN-PROTEIN INTERACTION IN CO-TRANSFECTED COS-7	40
	40
	49
4.4 THE D184E MUTATION DRAMATICALLY AFFECT THE MOLECULAR INTERACTION	
BETWEEN TRPV4 AND AQP4-M1 ISOFORM	50
4.5 D184E MUTATION INTERFERE WITH THE MEMBRANE LOCALIZATION OF AQP4 A	
ND TRPV4	52
4.6 EXPRESSION OF VRAC IN COS-7 CELL LINE	54
4.7 VRAC IS EXPRESSED IN RAT CULTURED CORTICAL ASTROCYTES AND MEDIATES	
TYPICAL HYPOTONIC-INDUCED CHLORIDE CURRENTS	56
4.8 VRAC IS EXPRESSED IN THE MOUSE BRAIN, ESPECIALLY IN ASTROCYTES	58
5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	61

REFERENCES	68
ACKNOLEDGEMENTS	. 74

## PART I INTRODUCTION

#### 1. Cell Volume Regulation

The capability of regulate the cell volume is a fundamental features of every cell in terms of structure and function. In physiological conditions, the ionic strength inside the cytoplasm is tightly regulated and in mammals, for instance, the total osmolytes concentration is maintained proximate to 300 mOsm.

For many years, cell volume regulation has been consider as a minor physiological process, since the plasma osmolytes concentration is strictly regulated. Recently, important varieties of studies have shown that in some tissue, for instance renal medullary cells and chondrocytes, cells are challenged with osmolarity stresses that desire volume readjustments. Nevertheless, in the central nervous system (CNS) cells are encased in a rigid surrounding (head bone), thus their function is dramatically dependent on cell volume, especially involved when non-physiological conditions occur.

Anisotonic conditions can also originate from pathological states like hypo- or hypernatraemia, the most common electrolytes disorder, where the homeostasis is impaired (75).

Nevertheless, volume changes are integrant part of many physiological and cell-autonomous processes, including cell migration, proliferation, differentiation signalling and apoptotic cell death (73, 55, 161). It is possible to find gradients in other physiological stages like neuronal firing in the CNS, in kidneys, intestine and liver where cell swelling increase the production of glycogen and protein synthesis and vice versa, and of course blood.

Every cell is constantly challenged with volume perturbation, originated from osmolyte microgradients, which may affect the concentration of molecules hypothetically involved in every cell function. In this way, the basic mechanisms involved in volume regulation have been preserved among all animal cells.

4

Cell volume changes subsequently to external challenges are based on a peculiar permeability of the cellular membrane. The lipid bilayer is permeable to water even though specialized proteins, which mediate the water diffusion across the plasma membrane, so-called water channels or aquaporins, can increase this permeability (82, 85).

Given a precise water permeability every cell disclose an "osmometric" behaviour in response to anisotonicity, thanks to passive movement of water inside and outside the cell until the osmotic gradient is reset in a novel chemical equilibria. However, the cell does not behave as a perfect osmometer, in the sense that cell volume changes do not follow a perfect proportionality, as predicted by the Boyle/Van't Hoff law.

Apparently, the 20-40% of the cellular volume is included in the so-called osmotically inactive components, like solutes and membranes. However, using freezing experiments and calculating the water content of cells it has been demonstrate that one fraction of water is osmotically inactive. Indeed, the ratio between the total cell volume minus the osmotically inactive component and the total water content it is always less than one. This ratio is termed as Ponder R (114). This discrepancy is likely to be ascribe to hydration water around macromolecules and ion, which is not free to move under the force generated by osmotic pressure.



*Figure 1.1:* Chart where osmolality and cell volume are plotted. The interpolation serves to calculate the osmotically inactive component of the cell.

When a cell is exposed to hypertonic solution this cause cell shrinkage, whereas a hypotonic solution leads to cellular swelling. In the first case the initial volume is restore thanks to the process called regulatory volume increase (RVI), with the contribution of Na<sup>+</sup>-K<sup>+</sup>-2Cl<sup>-</sup> cotransport and Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup>exchange. In the latter, the process is termed as regulatory volume decrease (RVD) with a net efflux of KCl and organic osmolytes, followed by osmotic movement of water.

#### 1.1 Inorganic and organic osmolytes

The most important inorganic osmolytes within the cell are two inorganic ions: potassium and chloride; they are indeed involved in small perturbation of the intracellular or extracellular environment; for many years research focused on these two ions even though in the recent years an increasing piece of evidence has shown the dramatic role of organic osmolytes in volume regulation.

Organic osmolytes are confined inside the cell, including amino acids (taurine, glutamin acid), polyhols like myo-inositol and sorbitol and methylamines like betaine (165, 166).

The necessity of organic osmolytes beside ions seems to be ascribed to a couple of reasons. First, a potential higher inorganic salt concentration might be not compatible with the function of some enzymes or other proteins (100). In this case, we do not have an interference role for such organic osmolytes. Another important aspect is that the majority of osmolytes do not carry positive or negative charges and beyond that, they are electroneutral compared to inorganic salts which would excessively have an impact on membrane potential, for instance in neuronal excitability in the brain (63).

Organic osmolytes are especially required in renal medulla (14), chondrocytes (32) and in the brain due to limited distensibility (110).

6

#### 1.2 MOLECULAR MECHANISMS IN CELL VOLUME REGULATION

#### 1.2.1 Volume sensors

Cell volume regulation origins from a variation of environmental parameters which lead to an adaptive response. When one cell perform this task, we are able to classify the mechanism in three different phases: sensing, transduction and effectuation.

The sensing process is a complicate process that involved various mechanisms and actors. Despite the strong effort put in the recent years, the machinery involved in sensing volume perturbation remains unclear.

Three types of osmotic stresses can be identified: chancing in ionic strength, mechanical membrane stretches (also related to extracellular matrix and cytoskeleton) and macromolecular concentration (altered metabolism) (55, 24, 111). These mechanisms are part of the osmosensing tool case of the cell and can act together and contribute to a specific response.

Interestingly, in fungi, a histidine kinase complex set up the adaptive response (12), whereas in higher eukaryote the lack of this structure led to others osmosensory pathways.

#### 1.2.2 Cytoskeleton

During osmosensing, a rapid and broadly activation e reorganization of actin cytoskeleton is involved in cell volume regulation. Moreover, the cytoskeleton plays a protective role in volume changes, reducing localized damages and increasing an intrinsic resistance of the cell (27).

The impact of cytoskeleton in osmosensing is particularly clear when it comes to the dramatic alteration of polymerized actin in swelling (decrease) and shrinking (increase). (49, 76, 36, 123). The mechanism behind this organization in rather complex and involves several protein group and families, including Rho family G proteins (78), cortactin (33), which is

7

activated during cell shrinkage, and ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins (118, 143). Most evident, when F-actin is disrupted, the osmo-response is overwhelmed, indicating the major role of cytoskeleton in these processes.

Noteworthy, the activation of some ion channels in these conditions is linked to the cytoskeleton. For instance, the activation of the osmosensor TRPV4 (transient receptor potential vanilloid 4) shows a F-actin dependent mechanism (55). Another example is the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>/2Cl<sup>-</sup> transporter (NKCC1), which contributes to the regulatory volume increase (84).

#### 1.2.3 Integrins

Integrins are protein receptor localized at the plasmamembrane level that are involved in cell adhesion, connecting the extracellular matrix (ECM) to the actin cytoskeleton (28). They carry out important functions in cell migration, proliferation and beside that, they have been implicated in cell volume regulation as osmosensors, although a direct evidence is still elusive. What we know is that integrins are activated after osmotic perturbations, shrinkage or swelling. Moreover, they clearly activate volume regulated anion channels (VRAC) (23) and regulate an assortment of volume-sensitive potassium channels (77).

#### 1.2.4 Transient Receptor Potentials

TRP ion channels are cation channels that can be highly selective or non-selective for calcium and response to a variegate physical stimuli. Compose of various subgroups, the vanilloid family (TRPV) is the most investigated group in osmotransduction. However, TRP can be classified into six subgroups, beside the vanilloid family, which are canonical (TRPC), mucolipin (TRPM), ankyrin (TRPA), melastatin (TRPML) and polycystin (TRPP).

TRPV1 is deeply involved in volume regulation and it probably responses to membrane stretch, even though is experimentally challenging to separate a stretching signal from that of swelling (80). Nevertheless, TRPV4 KO mice exhibit impaired RVD and a close relation with mechanosensitivity, since it mediates swelling-activated calcium influx (106). Other channels seems to be involved in mechanosensitivity and cell swelling like TRPM7 (101), TRPC1 (83)

and TRPC6 (134). In the past few years two protein from the same family has been cloned and characterize as mechanically activated channels. They are called Piezo 1 and Piezo 2, which resemble the non-selective cation currents stretch-activated (SACs) found in bacteria.



Figure 1.2: The transient receptor potential family and topological structures (148).

#### **1.3 EFFECTORS IN CELL VOLUME REGULATION**

#### 1.3.1 Regolatory Volume Decrease (RVD)

After cell swelling, instant mechanisms take place leading to extrusion of intracellular organic osmolytes together with net efflux of KCl, via independent pathways or coupled to each other.

#### **1.3.2** *Potassium Channels*

Many potassium channels exhibit a volume-dependence. Thanks to the gradient occurring in every cell, an increase of K<sup>+</sup> conductance would augment the exit of K<sup>+</sup>. This in turns will hyperpolarize the cell membrane, favouring the efflux of Cl<sup>-</sup>. Basically, the most important and effective mechanism in regulatory volume decrease, is the parallel activation of mechanisms which lead to the efflux of K<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup>, known to be almost electroneutral.

BK<sub>Ca</sub> or maxi-potassium channels are activated in swelling conditions after membrane depolarization and an increase of cytosolic calcium. They are voltage-dependent and this could be related to a coupling mechanisms with chloride channels activation. The activity under hypotonic conditions has been demonstrated in several studies (see reference 161 for an extensive description).

IK<sub>Ca</sub> constitute another family which exhibit a voltage independence while activated by cytosolic Ca<sup>++</sup>. Many reports showed and identify this channels as mediator of potassium conductance in hypotonicty conditions (147). Several mechanism have been proposed to explain the activation of these channels, including membrane stretch, actin cytoskeleton reorganization, intracellular calcium increase and activation by kinase such as PKC (72).

#### 1.3.3 Volume-regulated Cl- channels

The most important ion channel involved in the increased conductance of chloride upon cell swelling is the so called Volume-Regulated Anion Channel (VRAC). After 30 years being on the run the essential structure of VRAC has been solved (150).

VRAC is a moderately outward rectifying channel, with inactivation at positive potentials. The most selective inhibitors of VRAC is DCPIB (an indanone compound). The activity of this channel is absent in resting conditions, when there is not any osmotic gradient. In hypotonic conditions VRAC is deeply activated and several mechanisms has been proposed including a reduction of intracellular strength, F-actin organization and changes in the membrane lipid composition (72). Interestingly, it shows an intrinsic permeability to organic osmolytes such as taurine, and amino acids (aspartate and glutamate). Hence, taurine efflux during RVD is a prominent mechanism by which every cell responds to swelling. During RVD the passive loss of taurine, following its chemical gradient, is around 30-50%.

#### 1.3.4 KCl symport

KCl release from the symport channel plays an important role in RVD (56). Four isoforms have been cloned so far (KCC1-KCC4) and three of them (KCC1, KCC3,KCC4) are activated in hypotonic conditions. KCC2 is not sensitive to this kind of stimuli and it is exclusively expressed in the central nervous system where it decrease the chloride concentration below its equilibrium in order to facilitate hyperpolarization from GABA channels (160).



Figure 1.3 Ion channels involved in RVD, upon hypotonic stimulus (103)

#### 1.3.5 Cell Volume in physiological processes

Easy to imagine, cell volume regulations involved in many physiological processes and influences cell functions. Two of the most important of these functions are cell migration and apoptosis.

In **cell migration**, volume changes have a profound impact in epithelial cells (129) while in neutrophils migration, cell swelling is pivotal (122). Recently, it became clear that ion channels and transporter involved in cell volume regulation, are evidently important actors in cell migration. For instance, this role has been elucidated for NHE1 (sodium/hydrogen exchanger) which is present to the leading edge of migrating cells (136), for volume-regulated anion channels (127) and for transient receptor potential channels like TRPV4 and TRPV1 (157). Particularly, imagine a cell in the process of migration, the shrinkage-related channels are localized at the leading edge, while the swelling-activated channels are found at the lagging edge, resulting in a forward movement (128).

**Apoptotic volume decrease** (AVD) is an important stage of programmed cell death. Important ion channels involved in this process are for instance VRAC, which are essential in AVD and nevertheless are involved in cancer resistance (72). Moreover VRAC are activated by cisplatin (Ise et al., 2005). In the first stage of AVD, a reduction of intracellular concentration of K<sup>+</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> is observed, followed by a 30% loss of water. In the second stage, due to inhibition of the Na<sup>+</sup>,K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase, a reduction of potassium and an increase of intracellular sodium take place.(72)

#### **1.3.6** *Cell Volume in physiopathological processes*

Cell volume and extracellular tonicity is usually maintained in a narrow window by homeostatic control. In any case, major disturbances occurring to biological fluids are common features in some pathological disorders. These states includes hyponatremia, hypernatremia (74) and malaria (131). Other pathological conditions like hypercatabolism and burn injuries lead to cell volume dysregulation (154, 10).

Osmotic disturbance can also occur due to changing in the chemical composition of extracellular fluids, for instance during liver or kidney insufficiency where urea and NH<sub>3</sub> accumulate in the extracellular space. In diabetes mellitus, sorbitol accumulation can also challenge the correct volume homeostasis (153, 74).

It is well known that in liver cirrhosis, ammonia augmentation leads to astrocytic swelling in the brain, process which is partially involved in hepatic encephalopathy (51). In the central nervous system, moreover, osmotic changes can have tremendous consequences as the given space is confined and the extracellular space is very little compared to other tissues. During ischemia and reperfusion insults, energy depletion leads to insufficient activity of the Na<sup>+</sup>,K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and consequent cell swelling due to impaired ability to maintain ions gradients (112).

# 2. Volume regulation in the central nervous system: role of astrocytes and ion channels

#### 2.1 Glial cells: physiological role within the central nervous system

Glial cells, commonly termed as glia, form the nervous system together with neurons. The Greek etymology suggest glia as the "glue of the nervous system"; however, this is not completely correct. Glia are non-neuronal cells that significantly contribute neuronal physiology as they maintain neuronal homeostasis, modulate synaptic genesis and fiber myelination, and provide neurons of trophic support and immune protection within the brain and central nervous system (CNS) as well as in peripheral nervous system (SNP) (Fig. 2.1).

Furthermore they destroy pathogens and remove dead neurons in order to maintain the appropriate neuronal function. In addition, the recognition of their action on the immune system led glia to become an integral part of a new discipline: neuroimmunology.

It is also important to remind that we can distinguish between different types of glia: in the



parenchyma as immunitary cell type of the CNS (3).

CNS we find astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia and ependymal; in the (SNP) we can distinguish between Schwann cell, that form myelin sheaths, and satellite cells, which surround the bodies of ganglion neurons.

Figure 2.1: Anatomical and functional organization in neuron-glia interactions: glial cells interacting with neurons, blood vessels and the micro-environment. Oligodendrocytes cover axons with myelin sheath to accelerate neuronal impulses. Astrocytes take contacts with synapses and vessels. Microglia monitor the brain

#### 2.1.1 Astrocytes

Astrocytes are derived from neuronal stem cells and populate all regions of CNS, where they represent the most widely distributed cell type (52). Astrocytes (Fig. 2.2) are stellate cells with multiple fine processes that contact blood vessels, pial surface, and surround neurons. In gray matter, astrocytic processes unsheathe virtually every synapse. Astrocytes serve various functions including structural roles (they forms the blood-brain barrier), metabolic support of neuronal system supplying nutrients and neurotransmitter precursors, regulation of ion concentrations. Furthermore, they express several receptorial systems (neurotransmitter receptors) and immune signalling (cytokines and chemokines), providing a critical role in neuronal functions and affecting all neighbouring cell types.



**Figure 2.2**: This immunofluorescent light micrograph shows mammalian brain astroglial cells, stained in green. Nuclei are stained in blue. Scientists are uncovering evidence that astrocytes do more than simply support neurons (60).

#### 2.1.2 Microglia

Believed to be the most reactive and mobile cells of the central nervous system, microglia are the specialized phagocytic cells and they behave as central macrophages (45). Adult microglial cells originate from primitive myeloid precursors and show different characteristics as compared to other macrophages: microglia, indeed, have highly motile processes by which they examine the brain surrounding (Fig. 2.3) (31).

Thanks to a variety of signalling pathways microglia communicate with macroglial cells (astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and other glial cells), and neurons. These cells have the capacity to release a number of soluble factors that determine either beneficial or detrimental for the vicinal cells. Activated microglia can migrate to the site of injury, proliferate, and phagocytose cells and cellular compartments.



**Figure 2.3:** Example of microglia cells around the red blood vessels in the retina. Both microglia and blood vessels are surrounded by nerve cells, not stained in this picture (57).

#### 2.1.3 Oligodendrocytes

Oligodendrocytes are glial cells populating the CNS and producing myelin (80% lipid and 20% protein), an insulating sheath on axons and nerve fibers. A single oligodendrocyte is able to extend its processes to 50 axons, wrapping approximately 1  $\mu$ m of myelin sheath around every axon (Fig. 2.4). Between the different segments of myelin-isolated neurons, it is possible to identify uncovered spots called nodes of Ranvier, which are crucial in the electrical transmission system. Indeed, the speed up of impulses occurs as propagation of

action potentials follows a salutatory fashion at the nodes of Ranvier, in which ionic flows is permitted.

In the peripheral nervous system, the equivalent cell present is termed as **Schwann cells**: these cells, by contrast, can wrap around only one axon.



Figure 2.4: Oligodendrocyte and myelin sheath: oligodendrocytes insulate neuronal axons, speeding-up electrical transmission (58)

#### 2.1.4 Ependymal cells

Termed as ependymocytes, they are specialized cells that produce and secrete cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and beat their cilia to permit the CSF fluid circulation. Situated in the cavities of the CNS where build up the walls of the ventricles as well as the blood brain barrier in the interface with blood circulation. They are thought to act as neural stem cells.

#### 2.2 Astrocytes and volume homeostasis in the CNS

Astrocytes constitute the most abundant cells within the brain; even though they are considered "star-like cells" they do exhibit a morphological heterogeneity. Indeed not all the astrocytes express the classic astrocytic marker GFAP (glial fibrillary acidic protein). This astrocytic marker stains all cultured astrocytes but *in situ* the expression is rather heterogenous; for instance is virtually expressed in every cell of the Bergmann glia, while in adult animals cortical astrocytes the expression of this protein is confined to a 15-20 percent. Astrocytes are both present in the gray matter and in the white matter. In the former, we find protoplasmatic astrocytes, which have fine and elaborate processes about 50 µm long. This type of astrocytes are capable to cover the entire three-dimensional space, virtually covering all the neuronal membranes and every synapse. The also take contact with blood vessel, constitute the so-called perivascular end feet. Moreover, they project towards the pial surface, isolating the brain parenchyma from the vascular and subarachnoid space, forming the glia limitants. Fibrous astrocytes are present in the white matter. They have different features including longer and less elaborate processes (300 µm) which also cover the nodes of Ranvier (perinodal astrocytes).

Astrocytes play major role in brain homeostasis, morphological definition of the central nervous system, synaptic maintenance and brain defence. (94)



**Figure 2.5** Protoplasmatic astrocytes from mouse neocortex. Noteworthy, the complexity of astroglial processes virtually covering all the CNS synapses and perivascular interfaces (53).

#### **2.3** Astrocytes physiological functions in homeostasis

#### 2.3.1 Glutamate metabolism

Glutamate uptake from extracellular environment is a major task for astrocytes. The extracellular concentration of glutamate needs to be maintained under 1  $\mu$ M. Hence, astrocytes uptake glutamate in order to terminate glutamatergic neurotransmission and prevents glutamate to reach excitotoxic levels (glutamate is the most important and bountiful excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain) (132).

Specific glutamate transporters are expressed and enriched in astrocytic processes, especially where they take contact with synapses. GLT1 and GLAST 1 are the most specific glutamate transporters (119, 125).

Glutamate transport is an active process and require energy from ATP breakdown; briefly glutamate is cotransported with three Na<sup>+</sup>, while one hydroxide ion and one K<sup>+</sup> are extruded from the cell (124). This leads to an increase of intracellular sodium concentration beside a Ph reduction. Glutamate is subsequently converted in glutamine and recycled by neurons after extracellular release by astrocytes.

Glutamate receptors, included mGluR, are present in the plasma membrane of astrocytes. During neuronal firing, release of glutamate in the synaptic space lead to astrocytic calcium intracellular store activation, leading to a calcium-dependent discharge of glutamate in the extracellular environment, eventually modulating synaptic activity (52)

#### 2.3.2 Potassium buffering

In the central nervous system, neuronal action potential is followed by a repolarization phase, driven by potassium movements across the membrane, towards the extracellular space. The potassium increase is rapidly buffered in the interspace narrowing synapses, by astrocytes. This important task accomplish the maintenance of the resting membrane potential of neurons, since a compromised  $K^+$  regulation leads or is related to severe pathologies, such as epilepsy (130).

The basic mechanism proposed to address the role of astrocytes in potassium buffering implies the involvement of the astrocytic syncytium, which spatially buffers local high potassium concentration towards extracellular compartments where K<sup>+</sup> is lower and eventually blood circulation. Among many potassium channels, the Kir 4.1 (Inwardly rectifying potassium channel 4.1) is mainly involved in the astrocytic potassium conductance (26). As a weakly-rectifying is capable to drive K<sup>+</sup> inside and outside the cell, in a bidirectional fashion. Kir 4.1 expression is highly polarized in astrocytes, particularly in the processes enwrapping synapses and the processes facing capillaries. In this context, it is possible to term this process as "potassium spatial buffering" where K<sup>+</sup> is cleared from high concentration areas (synapses) and released in the blood circulation, through the astrocytic syncytium. Gap junctions, connecting astroglial cells to each other and favouring cell-cell communication, play an important role in this mechanism (18).



**Figure 2.6** Astrocytes modulate neuronal activity by releasing different transmitters. (A) The tripartite synapses in this electron microscopy micrograph (A). The astrocytic process (green) enwraps both the presynaptic (pre) and postsynaptic (post) terminals. (B) Astrocytes release glutamate that modulate synaptic plasticity, neuronal excitability, and synchrony due to specific activation of the NMDA receptor. Astrocytes also release ATP, which is degraded to adenosine and strongly suppresses synaptic transmission by binding to the receptor adenosine A1 (48).

Astroglial cells are also involved in other physiological processes. For instance, astrocytes regulate synapse arrangement (otherwise formation of synapses would be greatly depressed), maintenance and elimination. Synaptic formation strictly depends on cholesterol, which is synthetized and secrete by astroglial cells, which can control for instance receptor density in the post and presynaptic membranes of neurons. Other signalling molecules, including tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha), can affect synaptic maturation. TNF-alpha has been demonstrated to regulates the expression of glutamate receptors into postsynaptic membranes neurons (94).

Moreover astrocyte, covering virtually all the surface facing the basal lamina of blood vessels, are capable to control and regulate local blood flow through calcium-dependent mechanisms which in turns cause vasodilatation or vasoconstriction. Regarding metabolic support, astrocytes seems to be correlated to the glucose-lactate shuttle, taking up glucose from the general circulation and supply neurons with new metabolic fuel. Indeed, astrocytes are the only cellular entities that can synthesize glycogen from glucose, operatic as an energy storage (94).



Figure 2.7 Glucose-Lactate shuttle between Astrocytes and neurons (59).

#### 2.4 Brain volume regulation: role of astrocytes and ion channels

An action potential is very fast increase of the membrane potential from -70 mV, which is a typical resting potential, to a peak value of about +40 mV. This elevation occurs in some milliseconds and it is followed by a less rapid decrease back to the resting potential value. In an action potential, voltage-gated sodium and potassium channels open and close in a very coordinate manner to permit the flow of ionic currents through the plasma membrane, according to the Nernst equation for each ionic entity. Hence, sodium enters in the cell and potassium is directed towards the extracellular space. These transient variations in the membrane potentials triggers not only voltage-gated channels but also allow electrodiffusion of ions through passive channels, particularly chloride which exhibits in most excitable ells, an high chloride permeability in resting Conditions. Minor changes in the spatial distributions of sodium, potassium and chloride occurs after every action potential and require fine adjustments through active ionic transportation. If the resetting of this perturbations are not fully complete before the following action potential, a progression of these ionic gradients is observed, which may induce volume changes (8, 13, 54). In the central nervous system the interstitial spaces are reduced and cell swelling upon repeated action potentials can further increase extracellular potassium concentration and in turns affecting the membrane resting potential to increased values toward the firing threshold and an augmented excitability, which is linked to a number of disease including epilepsy and spreading depression. (9, 67).

Astrocytes, involved as main actors in central homeostasis and volume maintenance and regulation, are deeply studied in order to unravelled the mechanisms beside volume regulation. Primary, volume regulation is a cell-cell mechanisms and ion channel together with aquaporin are crucial in addressing this task. Astrocytes indeed in physiological state, show a moderate and transient swelling upon neuronal activity, especially nearby synapses, as the extracellular space between pre- and post-synaptic membranes decreases (138). Astrocytes cultured *in vitro* and exposed to hypotonicity, rapidly swell through an osmotic driven water flux, mediated by aquaporin 4. At this moment, cellular components sense the

volume change in order to ignite the response and restore the initial volume. Elevation of intracellular calcium and cytoskeletal rearrangements seem to be the most important mechanisms in astrocytes (102, 88).  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  rising in RVD is still controversial, as it is not clear whether calcium *per se* is able to trigger this adaptive response, or a biochemical calcium-dependent pathways are activated. Involvement of the intracellular kinases such as P38, MAP-kinase and JUNK has been demonstrated, together with phospholipase A2 (PLA<sub>2</sub>), even though the exact contribution is still unclear. (109). Mechanosensitive receptors, such as transient receptor potential (TRP) might be also implicated in calcium transduction.

Concerning effectors, VRAC channels play a pivotal role in RVD (155, 107, 69). Other anion channels might be also involved, particularly from the CLC family (39). Potassium conductance is as well involved in RVD even though the K<sup>+</sup> channels have not been discovered yet. In this perspective, Kir 4.1 channel is also essential for volume regulation in the spinal cord, even though evidence in other regions of the CNS are still lacking. (34).

#### **2.5** Astroglial ion channels in volume regulation

#### 2.5.1 Aquaporin 4

Aquaporin 4 is a water channel included in the aquaglyceroporin family, mainly expressed in the brain and constituting the most expressed aquaporin of the central nervous system. Aqp4 monomer is a 323 amino acids protein called isoform M1, since a shorter isoform that lacks the first 22 amino acids (M23, 301 AA) due to a shift in the initiation site on the same gene, has been also identified. (91)

The two classical isoforms cooperate together to form primarily tetramers with a predicted central pore, and larger arrays called orthogonal array of particles (OAPs), which cover the astrocytic membrane where AQP4 is highly enriched, at the perivascular endfeet of astroglial cells. This clustering seems to be the active from of AQP4 even though the real role of these particles needs to be clarified.

AQP4 is highly concentrated in astrocytic end feet (42), attesting to the polarization nature of astrocytes. AQP4 allows bidirectional flux of water following osmotic driven force.

Subsequently the AQP4 role has been deeply investigated in pathologies included ischemia and edema. After 23 years from AQP4 discovery, the role of this aquaporin is still not clear in these pathological states. The level of AQP4 in astrocytic end feet is depressed following transient ischemia (43) and this loss is more prominent in the regions where there was a vascular damage, delimiting the ischemic area. (41). Noteworthy, the polarized distribution of AQP4 is lost in reactive astrocytes (163).

Downregulation of AQP4 were also found in other pathologies such as epilepsy (37), brain injury (121) and one model of Alzheimer (167), while increasing of AQP4 has been found in some inflammatory processes (from LPS treatment, 145) and central haemorrhage (156) and brain tumours (35, 99).

Robust data indicate that AQP4 is involved in water and waste clearance from the CNS, becoming rate limiting in the water movement between the blood brain barrier. This was indicated from a recent study where studying fluorescent tracers in a living mouse brain were used (61). Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) recycles inside the brain parenchyma along perivascular spaces. The tracer, following distribution in the brain parenchyma is accumulated nearby capillaries and veins, suggesting a paravenous drainage process. AQP4<sup>-/-</sup> mice shows reduced tracer flow and delayed clearance in parenchyma. AQP4 may be relevant, not only form interstitial water, but also soluble factors, proteins and waste, included such neurodegenerative disease, where protein accumulation is an important factor in the etiopathogenesis. (167)

#### 2.5.2 TRPV4

Cell-cell communication in astroglial syncytia and astroglia signaling is mediated by Ca<sup>2+</sup> waves elicited by extracellular soluble factors and a variety of physical and chemical stimuli, included cellular swelling. Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 4 (TRPV4) is a poly-modal cation channel and can be activated by modest heat (47, 152) and endogenous ligands including arachidonic acid and anandamide (159). Cell swelling

activation of TRPV4 in anisotonic conditions seems to be linked to PLA<sub>2</sub> stimulation and arachidonic acid action (152).

Several studies demonstrated that TRPV4 is critically involved in cell volume regulation and regulatory volume decrease in various cell types (11, 15). Our group recently showed that TRPV4 is expressed in rat cultured cortical astrocytes and *in situ* observation in the mouse brain, (16). Indeed activation of TRPV4 by a selective activator like 4-alpha-phorbol 12,13-didecanoate (4 $\alpha$ PDD), induced [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> signals in cortical astrocytes in vitro, resembling the currents detected endogenously in other cell types (158, 120). Hypotonicity-induced [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> elevation was dependent on extracellular calcium concentration and was blocked by ruthenium red, a non-specific TRPV4 inhibitor (151). *In situ* studies revealed that TRPV4 highly enriched in the astrocytic endfeet membranes facing endothelial cells of blood vessels, as well as in ependymocytes in the ventricles. Interestingly, in this two domains, AQP4 is also very abundant. (96).

#### 2.5.3 VRAC

The volume-regulated anion channel (VRAC) is probably the most important anion channel involved in cell volume regulation. This concept and VRAC expression has been demonstrated mostly in all types of vertebrate cells, including those of the CNS (135, 97, 104).

In many studies, pharmacological inhibition of VRAC, blocked or seriously impaired RVD (55, 97). This pivotal role of VRAC in volume regulation may partially ascribed to the ability to mediate efflux of organic osmolytes. In astrocytes, the release of massive amounts of excitatory amino acids, glutamate and aspartate, upon brain injury, causes excitotoxic neuronal death. In this context, VRAC has been demonstrated to be permeable to glutamate involved in this excitotoxicity (68, 110). Astrocytes are more susceptible to ischemic swelling than neurons (89) and VRAC might be the main source of volume-dependent release of toxic amino acids in the brain.

After 30 years being on the run, the molecular identity of VRAC has been partially solved. In 2014, two independent groups established that an essential sub-unit of VRAC is the leucine rich repeat containing 8 family member A (LRRC8A). (115, 150)

The LRRC8 family includes five members. LRRC8A member is a protein of about 800 amino acid residues with a molecular weight of 95 kD. The C-terminal contains 17 leucine-rich repeats. (1). Notably, LRRC8 proteins share a common ancestor with pannexins, beside a weak homology in their transmembrane domain. Inlight of this, a hexameric conformation similarly to pannexins, has been suggested (1). This speculation might also include that multimers of LRRC8 are capable to form a structured channel-pore. Notably, it was reported that carbenoxolone, a VRAC blocker, inhibits connexin hemichannels (22).

#### Swelling-induced VRAC activation

VRAC activation induced by cell swelling has been extensively demonstrated, even though the precise mechanisms is still elusive. Many different types of signaling cascade might contribute to the swelling-induced VRAC activation but their contribution seems to be partial or only permissive. Since cell swelling is usually accompanied by calcium signals, the contribution of calcium has been investigated in VRAC activation. VRAC is not a calcium dependent ion channel, as its activity does not directly reflects calcium dynamics (139). In any case, many studies reported that a minimal calcium concentration is required or some calcium-dependent enzymes are crucial for swelling-induced anionic current activation, like protein kinase C or Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinases (97). In cultured astrocytes, the mechanism of swelling-induced activation of VRAC clearly consists of Ca<sup>++</sup>-dependent and independent components. This [Ca<sup>++</sup>]<sub>i</sub> increase contributes to 30–40% of the total VRAC activation. Concerning the remaining 70-60%, the mechanisms in not yet determined, and it seems to be multicomponent and evidently calcium-independent (2). Remodeling of actin cytoskeleton has long been suggested to relate in some way to VRAC activation in many types of cells. In general, swelling-induced VRAC current reflects disassembly of submembrane cortical F-actin networks. (72)

Cell volume regulation is an essential process of every cell, and it occurs to not only restore the original volume when a cell is exposed to anisotonic condition, but also participate in such physiological processes in which change of shape is required to address such as apoptosis, differentiation, migration or proliferation. In this context, VRAC activation in has been well demonstrated in apoptosis, where VRAC is stimulate despite isovolumetric conditions. Moreover, in several cancer cell types, VRAC is downregulated and this correlate with a decreased propensity to apoptosis. Notably, this effect is more pronounced in drugresistant cancer cells (see Review 116). Thus, VRAC currents seems to be highly regulated throughout the cell cycle, and consistent with its specific role in volume regulation, VRAC inhibition impairs cell proliferation. VRAC may also play an important role angiogenesis since specific blockers impaired vessel formation in many models (81, 117). In cell migration, the inhibition of VRAC activity limited cell movements, presumably reflecting the close involvement of local cell volume changes in cell motility (116).

#### 2.6 Interaction between ion channels and aquaporins in volume regulation

#### 2.6.1 AQP4 and Kir 4.1

Potassium spatial buffering through the astroglial syncytium is accompanied by an osmotic driven water flux. Thus, a molecular partner for Kir 4.1 has been rapidly proposed. AQP4, the most important and expressed water channel in the brain has been extensively studied, since both proteins are enriched and co-localize in astrocytic endfeet *in situ* (90). This hypothesis has been subsequently tested in co-immunoprecipitation experiments, where Kir4.1 form a complex with APQ4 in Muller cells (29). In this study DAPC proteins were shown to selective anchoring both AQP4 and Kir 4.1, as indeed shown by Amiry-Moghaddam group, which deeply studied APQ4 polarization and molecular anchoring *in situ*, reporting an AQP4/alpha-syntrophin interaction (alpha- syntrophin is part of the DAPC complex) (4, 5). At a functional level, it has been demonstrated that genetic knockout of AQP4 led to slowed dynamics in potassium buffering and seizures predisposition (20, 21). In

more physiological experimental paradigms, the role of this interaction is still unclear. An explanation for some discrepancy might be that the two proteins belong to different microdomains at the plasma membrane level, but able to cross talk to accomplish the same functions (18)

#### 2.6.2 AQP4 and VRAC

Molecular interaction between AQP4 and VRAC has not been investigated yet. However, our group provided in vitro evidence that functional interaction between AQP4 and VRAC may occur in cortical rat astrocytes, as genetic knockout of aquaporin 4, reduce VRAC currents (19). Moreover, the interaction might be ATP-dependent, since the supplement of ATP in the internal solution in the patch-clamp experiment, restored the hypotonic-induced VRAC current (19).

#### 2.6.3 AQP4 and TRPV4

Hypotonic stress in astroglial cells produce an increase in intracellular calcium. Our group demonstrated the presence of TRPV4 in rat cortical astrocytes *in vitro* and *in situ* (16). Later our group provided evidence of molecular and functional interaction between AQP4 and TRPV4, in co-immunoprecipitation experiments and functional assay, showing that an increase of intracellular calcium upon hypotonic stimuli require the presence of AQP4, since this response is absent in AQP4 Knockout mice (17)



**Fig 2.8** Astroglial cells and ionic homeostasis. Noteworthy, the high polarized expression of astrocytic ion channels and aquaporins, involved in potassium buffering and volume homeostasis (18).

## PART II AIM OF THE STUDY

Aquaporin 4 (AQP4) is a highly conserved protein in mammals, since point mutation usually lead to a reduce water permeability (133). A recent study investigated the effect of a mutation in AQP4 gene in AQP4 membrane protein expression and water permeability (95). In this study, a novel point mutation of AQP4 origin an Asp/Glu switch, was observed in a Spanish sporadic case of deafness. Aspartate is position 184 is conserved across species. Moreover, the study of Nicchia e co-workers shows a reduce permeability of this mutant, heterologously expressed in cellular systems, probably affecting the mobility of the D loop of the protein.

The group where I carried out my PhD program demonstrated the role of protein-protein interactions between AQP4 and the channel Transient receptor potential channel vanilloid subfamily 4 (TRPV4), in the regulation of cell volume of cultured rat cortical astrocytes (17). Interestingly, TRPV4-KO mice develop delayed-onset hearing loss together with a pronounced vulnerability of the cochlea to acoustic insults (140). Chloride channels are also involved in the maintenance of homeostasis in the brain and in particular, volume-regulated anion channels (VRAC) mainly address this task, possibly in every cell of vertebrate organisms (65) The current mediated by VRAC has been deeply studied over the last 30 years. The molecular identity, partially solved in 2014 by two independent groups (115, 150), consist of an essential sub-unit termed as leucine rich repeat containing 8 family member A (LRRC8A). Notably, a functional interaction between AQP4 and VRAC has been demonstrated in astrocytes (17).

On this basis, in the context of a project supported by MIUR FIRB-Futuro in Ricerca (project protocol BFR12SJA8\_002 "Studio del ruolo fisiopatologico della mutazione D184E nel gene dell'Acquaporina-4" to Prof. Nicchia and Dr. Benfenati) we hypothesized that this mutation in the aquaporin 4 gene may affect the dynamics of AQP4 ion channel interaction. Indeed, ion channels and aquaporin play a pivotal role in maintaining the homeostasis in the auditory system, especially for the cochlear fluid homeostasis and generation of the endocochlear potential (64).

Hence, the aim of this study was to investigate the molecular and functional interactions between the mutant D184E of aquaporin 4 protein, with the ion channels TRPV4 and VRAC.

31

Moreover, since molecular tools, such as antibodies, are still not commercially available for VRAC, three antibody raised against LRRC8A antigenic polypeptides have been produced to investigate the expression of VRAC underpinning subunits in cortical astrocytes and mouse brain.

# PART III MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1 Cell Culture

All primary cell culture were prepared at the Department of Pharmacy and Biotechnology (FABIT) of the University of Bologna. The experiments were performed according to the Italian and European council law on protection of laboratory animals, with the approval of a local bioethical committee and under the supervision of a veterinary commission of the University of Bologna. Every effort was made to minimize the number of animals used and their sufferings. Adult male C57BL/6 mice (Jackson Laboratories, Boulder, CO) were used in Medicine department of the University of Oslo, according to the European Council law on protectionn of laboratory animals.

#### 3.1.1 Astrocyte

Cortical rat astrocytes we obtained from new born animals (Sprague Dawley) as described elsewhere (40). Briefly, neonatal cerebral occipital cortices devoid of meninges, were mechanically triturated, using micropipettes until the tissue was completely dissociated and filtered with 70  $\mu$ m nylon cell strainer (Falcon, BD Bioscience Bedford, MA, USA). The filtrate was transferred into a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks containing Dulbecco's Modified Eagle supplemented with 15% fetal bovine serum and penicillin/streptomycin (100 U/ml and 100  $\mu$ g/ml, respectively), purchased from Gibco-Invitrogen, Milano, Italy. Culture flasks were maintained for 2–5 weeks in an incubator at controlled temperature and pH (37° C and 5% CO<sub>s</sub>). After 2-3 weeks, astrocytes were re-plated onto the respective substrates by enzymatically dispersion, using 0,05% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco-Invitrogen), seeded at the desired concentration depending on the experiment.

#### 3.2 COS-7 cells

The COS-7 cells belong to an immortalized line derived from the African green monkey kidney. COS-7 cells were cultured in DMEM-glutamax, 10% FBS and penicillin (100-200 U/ml) - streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g /ml) (Gibco-BRL). Cells cultured in cell flask were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 3.2.1 Transfection of COS-7 cells

The day before transfection, COS-7 cells were seeded in 60-mm Petri dishes at a density of 5-8\*10<sup>5</sup> per dish. Lipofectamine 2000 were used as transfection reagent (Invitrogen). COS-7 were transfected with the following constructs, depending on the experiment: human TRPV4/pEGFP-N1 or AQP4 constructs, including wild type and carrying the D184E mutation; AQP4-M1/pTarget, AQP4-M23/pTarget, AQP4-M1-D184E/pTarget, AQP4-M23-D184E/pTarget). Co-transfection experiments were also performed to evaluate the interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4.

#### 3.3 Antibodies:

The following primary antibodies were used:

Target Protein	Dilution	Application	Purchased
Anti-TRPV4	1:200	Western Blot	Alomone
Anti-AQP4	1:500	Western Blot	Santa Cruz
Anti-AQP4	7μg/500 μg lysate	Immunoprecipitation	Chemicon
Anti-LRRC8A-3	1:500	Western Blot	Custom
Anti-LRRC8A-2	1:200	Immunofluorescence and	Custom
		Immunoelectron Microscopy	
Anti-GFAP	1:500	Imunofluorescence	Chemicon
Anti-GFP	1:1000	Western Blot	Roche
Three custom polyclonal antibodies against LRRC8A were produced (Twin Helix, Milan). Two have been used in this experimental set up. One polyclonal antibodies was raised in rabbits against the peptide sequence QRTKSRIEQGIVDRSE, coupled to KLH through an N-terminally added cysteine. This sequence belong to the intracellular loop between TMD2 and TMD3. Another polyclonal antibody against the C-terminus of LRRC8A was raised in rabbits against the peptide NLTQIELRGNRLE following the same set up as the previous Ab. Sera were affinity-purified against the respective peptides. Peptides and serum negative control were also included in the project.

#### 3.4 Immunoblot analysis in COS-7

COS-7 cells and 3–4 weeks cultured astrocytes were used for immunoblotting experiments. Cells were washed and scraped off in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EGTA pH 7.4, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1% Triton) with supplemented protease inhibitors. The lysate was spun at 14,000 *g* for 30 min at 4 °C and protein concentration was determined in the supernatant using Bradford quantification (Invitrogen). For membrane protein isolation, biotinylation of cell membrane protein was performed and biotinylated protein were separated with immobilized streptavidin as previously described (38).

Required amount of total protein lysate were separated into a polyacrylamide gel, electrotransferred onto a PVDF membrane (Invitrogen), blocked in 5% BSA and incubated with the primary Ab at 4° C for 12-16 hours.

Membranes were then washed three time with PBS-T and probed with the required IgG horse radish peroxidase—conjugated secondary antibodies (Sigma), and developed with the enhancing chemiluminescence detection system (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc).

Mouse brain tissue was dissected (n=4) and processed for protein analysis. Brain regions were homogenized at 4 °C using 2 mL Lysing matrix D (MP Biomedicals) Eppendorf tubes containing Lysis buffer supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Homogenization was performed in a FastPrep FP120 Cell Disrupter (MP Biomedicals),

shaken at intervals and intermittently cooled on ice. Supernatants were subsequently spun at high centrifuge speed and stored at -80 °C until downstream application as described in the previous paragraph.

### 3.5 Electrophysiology

Electrophysiology is a branch of physiology that studies the function of the organism from an electrical point of view, in normal conditions and under the influence of an external electrical potential. In 1991 the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded to two German biophysical: Erwin Neher and Bert Sakmann with the following motivation: "for their discoveries concerning the function of single ion channel cell". They were the inventors of the patch-clamp technique ("block of the aria") that makes it possible to record the currents that flow through single ion channels in many types of biological membranes. The physiology of ion channels has Always Been a main topic of interest in neuroscience research. The patch-clamp technique is currently the gold standard for real-time investigation of ion channel conductance. It allows the investigation of a small set of ion channels down to single-channel recording. The technique can be applied on single cells in culture as well as on freshly prepared brain.

To electrically isolated membrane patches, a thin glass pipettes that, after having been polished by the flame generated by an instrument called puller, appear to have a tip diameter of about 1 micrometer and a resistance of 1-10 ohm, they were sealed onto the membrane; with a suction it is established a high-resistance seal in the gigaohm range (cell-attached configuration). The pipette tip once resting on the plasma membrane, was capable of electrically isolating the small flap (patch) membrane and allowed to record ionic currents mediated by the small population of channels within it until you get to possibly record the activities of a single channel. Thereby all ions passing through this patch flow into the membrane and current can be recorded by a chlorinated silver electrode connected to an electronic amplifier.

Small petri dishes were mounted on an inverted microscope (Nikon Diaphot, Nikon Italy, Firenze, Italy), equipped with epifluorescence filters to detect fluorescence from transfected cells, labeled with GFP (green). Currents were recorded with the patch clamp technique, in whole cell configuration (50). Patch pipettes were prepared from thin-walled borosilicate glass capillaries to obtain a tip resistance of 2–4 M $\Omega$ . Membrane currents were amplified with an EPC-7 amplifier (List ElectronicDarmstadt, Germany), and low-pass filtered at 2 kHz (3 dB) and data were acquired with a sample rate of 5 kHz. Traces were analyzed with offline with pClamp 6 software (Axon Instrument, Foster City, CA, USA) and Origin 6.0, (MicroCal, Northampton, MA, USA). Experiments were performed at room temperature (22–24 °C).

#### **3.6** *Solutions and chemicals*

Saline solutions for patch clamp experiments were prepared with salts (Sigma-Aldrich) of the highest purity grade, and de-ionized and sterilized water.

For electrophysiological recordings the standard isotonic and control saline solution was (mM) 140 NaCl, 4 KCl, 2 MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 10Hepes, 5 glucose, adjusted pH (7.4 with NaOH and osmolarity (310 mOsm with mannitol). In order to eliminate cation currents in some electrophysiological experiments, cations were substituted with the impermeant cation N-methyl-D-glucamine (NMDG 140 nM). For microfluorometric experiments the control bath saline was (mM) 130 NaCl, 4 KCl, 2 MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 TES, 5 glucose, adjusted pH (7.4 with NaOH and osmolarity (310 mOsm with mannitol). The Ca<sup>2+</sup> free extracellular saline was prepared by omitting CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt and adding a calcium-chelating agent (EGTA 0.5 mM). The hypotonic saline (260 mOsm) was prepared without adding mannitol.

### 3.7 Calcium microfluorimetry

 $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  intracellular concentration was calculated by ratiometric microfluorometry, using the ratiometric probe Fura 2-AM (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen, Milano, Italy), which is one of the most used dyes in calcium studies. The binding of Ca2<sup>+</sup> leads to a shift in the excitation wavelength, because of different conformation of the dye after calcium binding. 24 hours before the measurements, low-density COS-7 cells were seeded on coverslips. The day of the experiment, the cells were incubated in 10  $\mu$ M Fura-2-AM diluted in standard control solution, for 45 min at room temperature (22-25°C). For microfluorimetric analysis, cells seeded on coverslips were mounted on a perfusion chamber and perfused at a rate of 0.5 ml/min as described elsewhere (152).

Measurements of  $[Ca^{2+}]i$  in single cells were performed by using an inverted fluorescence microscope (Nikon EclipseTE2000U, Nikon Italy) equipped with long-distance dry objective(40X) and appropriate filters. The emission fluorescence was selected through a 510-nm narrow-band filter and acquired with a digital charge-coupled device camera (VTi, VisiTech International Ltd., Sunderland, UK). Chopper frequency and settings were controlled by QuantiCell 2000 software (VisiTech). The fluorescence intensity measured at 340 nm to 380 nm with a sampling rate of 0.5 Hz., was plotted as a ratio between 340 nm and 380 nm. This ratio is directly proportional to calcium concentration and can be use as a direct indicator of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ . The calibration of the 340/380 reflecting the free  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was achieved as previously described (46).

#### 3.8 Brain sections and immunofluorescence

The animal was transcardially perfusion-fixed for 15 min with 4 % formaldehyde and postfixed for 24 hours. The sections (thickness 15–20 nm) after a two-step washing in PBS, were blocked in 2% BSA, 1% Triton X-100 in PBS and incubated overnight with primary antibodies at the desired dilution, as explained in the paragraph 3.3. Brain sections were then incubated with a secondary antibody conjugated with different fluorescent probes, depending on the experiment. After washing, nuclei were stained with 4',6-Diamidine-2'-phenylindole (DAPI) and mounted on the coverslips with Fluoromount (Molecular Probes).

Images of brain sections were captured using a Zeiss SP1/MP (Oberkochen, Germany) confocal microscope and processed using Zeiss Imaging software. The microscope was equipped with a 400 nm diode, 488 nm Ar+ and 543 nm He-Ne lasers as exciting sources.

For COS-7 and astrocytes immunofluorescence experiments, cells were seeded on coverslips, after treatment with poly-D-lysine; after 48 hours, cells were fixed and probed with the primary Abs as described above. The next day cells were incubated with a secondary antibody, stained with DAPI and after mounting, analyzed using a Zeiss SP1/M confocal microscope

In experiments conducted with control antigen, antibody was pre-adsorbed by incubation with immunizing peptide 1 h at room temperature (3  $\mu$ g peptide/1  $\mu$ g antibody).

### **3.9** *Fixation and tissue processing*

In immunoelectron experiment, the animals were perfusion-fixed as previously described (7). The specimens were plunged in subsequently higher glycerol concentrations (10%, 20%, 30%) in order to cryoprotect them. The samples were then immersed into liquid propane (170 °C) in a cryofixation unit (Reichert KF80, Wien, Austria), incubated 0.5% uranyl acetate dissolved in anhydrous methanol (90 °C). The temperature was increased from to 45 °C, in 4°C/h steps. Specimens were washed with anhydrous methanol and infiltrated with Lowicry IHM20 resin at 45 °C with a progressive increase in the ratio of resin to methanol. Polymerization was performed with UV light ( $\lambda$  360 nm) for 48 h.

### 3.10 Immunogold histochemistry

The brain tissue ultrathin sections (90 nm) were incubated overnight with an anti-LRRC8A primary antibody at a proper concentration at room temperature, overnight. The following day, tissue sections were then probed with a secondary antibody, coupled to 15nm gold particles and after washing, contrasted with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Labeled sections were analyzed with a Philips CM 10 electron microscope (Eindhoven, Netherlands) at 60 kV (5, 6). Data were compared, as control, with pre-immune serum and immunizing peptide negative controls.

### 3.11 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean standard error (SE) from at least three independent experiments. The statistical analysis was performed with two-tailed Student's *t*-test (paired or unpaired depending on the experiments) and a statistically significant difference *P* was reported if p<0.05 or less. Analysis of variance was also performed (one-way ANOVA), followed by Newman-Keuls post hoc test for multiple comparisons. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# PART IV RESULTS

### 4.1 TRPV4 mediates intracellular calcium elevation upon hypotonic stimulus in COS-7

Acquaporins and ion channels cooperate to maintain homeostasis; in the central nervous system, AQP4 and TRPV4 interact in order to serve this task. The former facilitating the osmotic-driven water movement and letter possibly sensing the mechanical stretch induced by osmotic cell swelling. The laboratory where I carried out my PhD program recently demonstrated a molecular and functional interaction between these two proteins. In order to study the physiophatological role of the D184E mutation in the AQP4 gene, we set up a heterologous system, able to express AQP4 and TRPV4 in the COS-7 cell line (African green monkey kidney fibroblast-like cell line suitable for transfection). This system provide a straightforward methodology to study protein-protein interactions in cellular models. This cell line derives from monkeys kidney does not endogenously express AQP4 nor TRPV4. COS-7 were transiently transfected with plasmid constructs, as indicated in the material and methods , in order to selectively express AQP4 M1 or M23 isoforms and TRPV4-GFP in a wild type genotype. Moreover, co-transfection with TRPV4 and AQP4 M1 or TRPV4 and AQP4 M23 was performed to investigate the interaction between the two proteins, in respect of the two AQP4 isoforms as well.

On these cells we investigated the calcium dynamics upon hypotonic stimulus. The effect of exposure of the cells to hypotonic solution ( $\Delta$  60 mOsm) on intracellular calcium concentration  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  was evaluated by calcium imaging, using the calcium fluorescent probe Fura-2. COS-7 cells, previously transfected with TRPV4, AQP4 M1, AQP4 M23 or co-transfected with TRPV4/AQP4 M1 or TRPV4/AQP4 M23 were perfused with a control solution for 5 min, followed by a challenge with hypotonic solution in presence of extracellular calcium followed by the omission of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the external solution (Fig. 4).

COS-7, which does not endogenously express TRPV4 nor AQP4, did not respond to the hypotonic stimulus in terms of intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  increase. The transfection of AQP4 M1 or M23 constructs did not affect calcium mobilization upon hypotonic challenge (Fig. 4,B-C), whereas transfection with TRPV4/EGFP induced a  $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$  increase, which returned to the

resting condition when extracellular calcium was omitted from the hypotonic perfusion (fig 4 D). COS-7 co-transfected with TRPV4 + AQP4-M1 or TRPV4 + AQP4-M23 and stimulated with the same experimental paradigm showed a similar calcium dynamics to those observed in the TRPV4/EGFP transfected cells (Fig. 4.1 D-F). The peak of the hypotonic induced increase in  $[Ca^{2+}]_{I}$  was significantly higher in TRPV4/EGFP transfected and co-transfected cells, when compared with the untrasfected and AQP4-M1 and AQP4-M23 ones. (Fig. 4.1, G).



Figure 4.1 Hypotonic challenge induces  $[Ca^{2+}]_{I}$  increase in Cos-7, when transfected with TRPV4. A) Representative trace of  $[Ca^{2+}]_{I}$  in native COS-7 cell line, perfused with control solution followed by hypotonic stimulus ( $\Delta$  60 mOsm), in the presence or lack of extracellular calcium. B) C) COS-7 transfected respectively with AQP4-M1 or AQP4-M23 did not affect calcium dynamics upon hypotonic stimulus. D) E) F) COS-7 transfected or co-transfected with TRPV4 and AQP4-M1 or AQP4-M23 showed intracellular calcium raising when challenged with hypotonic solution. G) Graph of Fura-2 fluorescent ratio showing intracellular calcium peaks amplitude within the experimental group. Statistical analyses revealed a difference between the groups where TRPV4 was not transfected vs the groups were TRPV4 were transfected alone or co-transfected with AQP4 isoforms (n=10).

### 4.2 TRPV4 and AQP4 co-expression is critical for Volume Regulated Anion Channel (VRAC) activity

Volume regulated anion channel has been proposed by several authors as the main effector mechanisms of RVD in astroglial cells. In a previous study, Benfenati and co-workers demonstrated that VRAC conductance was down regulated by knocking down AQP4 in culture rat cortical astrocytes (19). These data supported the hypothesis of a functional interaction between AQP4 and TRPV4 and VRAC, at least *in vitro*, thus we asked whether AQP4-TRPV4 complex formation was able to modulate VRAC activity in COS-7 cells.

Whole cell patch-clamp experiments were performed on cells seeded at a low density, 24-48h after re-plating and transfection. Analysis of COS-7 cells indicated that VRAC conductance depends on co-expression of TRPV4 and AQP4. The VRAC current could be elicited in COS-7 cells co-transfected with TRPV4/EGFP and either of the AQP4 isoforms (Fig. 4.2). Currents recorded in cells transfected with TRPV4/EGFP, or TRPV4/EGFP+M23 and TRPV4/EGFP+M1 COS-7 were always compared with those recorded in untrasfected control. To evoke chloride currents, cells perfused with isotonic solution or hypotonic solution (ΔOsm = 60 mOsm), were held at -0 mV and after stepping to -80 mV for 4s, a voltage ramp protocol from -80 mV to +80 mV of a duration of 4 s was applied. Naïve COS- 7 cells display a classical hypotonic-induced, VRAC current. Interestingly, cells transfected with TRPV4/EGFP alone showed negligible VRAC currents. In cells co-transfected with TRPV4/EGFP and AQP4-M23 the amplitude of the VRAC current was higher than in cells co-transfected with TRPV4/EGFP and AQP4-M1 (Fig. 4.2 A, right panels). Possibly, this difference reflects differences in transfection efficiency.

To investigate the voltage and time-dependency of hypotonic induce conductance of untrasfected cells and TRPV4-GFP or TRPV4-GFP and AQP4M23 or M1 transfected cells, COS-7 were stimulated with 6s voltage steps (V<sub>h</sub>=0 mV) from -80 mV to +80 mV (inset Fig. 4.2 B). Note the typical time dependent inactivation above +40mV described for VRAC current. Membrane currents recorded at -80 mV and + 80 mV were plotted as current density (Fig. 4.2 C,D). Data reveal statistical difference in current density, between untrasfected COS-7 cells and TRPV4/EGFP transfected cells treated with hypotonic solution (Fig. 4.2 C, p<0.05),

while the co-expression of TRPV4-GFP and AQP4 restore the hypotonic-induced current density to values comparable to those of the control, untransfected cells (Fig. 4.2 D). Taken together, these data indicate that AQP4-TRPV4 complex formation was able to modulate VRAC activity in COS-7 cells. As expected of a VRAC current, the magnitude of the osmotically induced current was largely unchanged after exchanging intracellular monovalent cations with the non permeant cation N-methyl-D-glucamine (NMDG) in the patch pipette solution (Fig. 4.2 E-F).



**Figure 4.2 Functional antagonism between VRAC and TRPV4 in COS-7 cell line.** A) Current evoked in control conditions and hypotonic challenge ( $\Delta = -60 \text{ mOsm/kg}$ ) of (from left): untransfected, TRPV4 alone, TRPV4 + AQP4-M23 and TRPV4 + AQP4-M1. B)Representative traces evoked by a step voltage protocol consisting of a voltage range from -80 mV to +80 mV with single 20 mV increments from a voltage holding of 0 mV. C) Current densities calculated at -80 mV and +80 mV in COS-7 transfected as explained in panel A; black line represent isotonic condition and red line depicts hypotonic challenge. D) Statistical analysis of the hypotonic-induced current densities at -80mV and +80 mV, showing statistical difference between the untransfected group and TRPV4 group (\* = p<0.05). In the right part of the graph the same experimental paradigm has been applied to COS-7 cells, substituting the physiological cations with NMDG (organic impermeant cation). In E the representative traces of electrophysiological recordings in isotonic and hypotonic solutions, current densities at -80 mV and +80 mV (F) and in G statistical analysis displaying the same results as in D (\* = p<0.05 untrasfected vs TRPV4).

### 4.3 AQP4 and TRPV4 protein-protein interaction in co-transfected COS-7 cell line

In 2011, Benfenati and colleagues demonstrated a physical and molecular interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4, in rat cortical astrocytes and in DiTCN\_1 cells, an astrocytic cell line that endogenously express TRPV4 but not AQP4. In this context, the same experimental paradigm has been applied to the COS-7 cell line, used as a model for heterologous expression of the two proteins of interest. Noteworthy, data reported in figure 4.3 shows that TRVP4 and AQP4 are capable to physically interact, since an anti-AQP4 used in immunoprecipitation protocol, pulled down also TRPV4/EGFP protein, which can be detected in a western blot assay with an anti-GFP antibody (Fig. 4.3).



**Figure 4.3 Immunoblot of TRPV4 after immunoprecipitation with an anti-AQP4**. COS-7 were transiently transfected with TRPV4-GFP and AQP4-M1. Co-immunoprecipitation of total proteins were subsequently performed using an AQP4 antibody. The immunoblot shows an immune-reactive band around 115 kDa, corresponding to the molecular weight of the TRPV4-GFP fusion protein (IP). Pre-clear negative control shows the absence of non-specific labeling of the agarose beads used in the experiment (n=5).

## 4.4 The D184E mutation dramatically affect the molecular interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4-M1 isoform

In order to investigate the role of D184E mutation in the AQP4 gene, COS-7 were then transiently co-transfected with TRPV4-GFP and AQP4-M1 or AQP4-M23. Immunoprecipitation experiments were performed with an anti-AQP4, followed by immunoblotting of TRPV4, similarly to the previous experiment. The data revealed a dramatic decrease of the TRPV4/AQP4-M1 isoform interactions when TRPV4/EGFP and AQP4-D184E M1 isoform were transfected in COS-7. These data suggested a strong impact of the mutation in the protein-protein interaction (Fig. 4.4 A). Interestingly, as depicted in the figure 4.4 B, the co-transfection of COS-7 with AQP4-D184E and TRPV4/EGFP is not altering the molecular interaction of the two proteins.



**Figure 4.4 AQP4 and TRPV4 protein iteraction is lost when the AQP4-M1 isoform carry the D184E mutation.** Immunoblot analysis of TRPV4 in COS-7 cell line, transiently transfected with TRPV4-GFP and the two mutated isoforms of AQP4 (D184E M1 and D184E M23). The D184E mutation in the AQP4-M1 isoforms lead to a strong decrease of the TRPV4 immunoreactive band (IP) after co-immunoprecipitation protocol, using an anti-AQP4 (A). The protein-protein interactions was not affected when the mutated AQp4-M23 isoform was co-expressed with TRPV4-GFP, since immunopositive band is still present in the IP lane of the immunoblot (n= 3).

### 4.5 D184E mutation interfere with the membrane localization

### of AQP4 and TRPV4.

The next experiment was aimed to evaluate whether the mutation D184E in the M1 isoform of AQP4 might affect the membrane expression, of AQP4 or TRPV4. COS-7 were transfected with TRPV4/EGFP and AQP4 D184E M1 isoform and to selectively isolate and analyze membrane protein expression, a biotinylation experiment was carried out as described in "material and methods", followed by western blot analysis. Preliminary data and densitometric analysis showed a slight decrease in the membrane expression of D184 M1 isoform of AQP4. Interestingly, TRPV4/EGFP plasma membrane expression was remarkably decreased by 50% (Fig. 4.5, panel C), revealing a possible explanation by which the AQP4-TRPV4 interactions is disrupted when the cells were co-transfected with AQP4-M1 mutated isoform.







**Figure 4.5 D184E mutation induces altered TRPV4 membrane expression in transfected COS-7.** COS-7 cell line, transfected with the TRPV4-GFP and AQP4 M1 D184E constructs were biotinylated and membrane proteins were isolated using streptavidin-agarose beads. Noteworthy, immunoblot analysis revealed a strong TRPV4 decrease when the mutated AQP4 isoform is present (D184E IP, A) and slight increase in AQP4 D184E M1 expression at a plasma membrane level (D184E IP, B). Same amount of plasmid constructs were transfect in COS-7 and non-transfected control was included. C) Densitometric analysis of TRPV4-GFP and AQP4 in COS-7 cells cotransfected with TRPv4-GFP and AQP4 WT or AQP4 D184E.

### 4.6 Expression of VRAC in COS-7 cell line.

Since in the electrophysiological experiments, we had shown the hypotonicity-induced VRAC activation, we decided to investigate the expression of VRAC in COS-7. VRAC molecular identity has been recently solved and LRRC8A protein is an essential sub-unit. Two custom antibodies were produced and tested in immunoblot experiments and immunofluorescence experiments followed by laser scanning confocal microscopy. Single plane confocal image reported in figure 4.6, revealed specific immunolabeling of VRAC, particularly at the plasma membrane level, indicating that COS-7 cell line endogenously express LRRC8A protein. Moreover, over-expression of LRRC8A in COS-7 cells, promotes an increase in immunoreactive band in western blot around 95 kDa and strong labeling in immunofluorescence analysis (Fig. 4.6 A-B).



**Figure 4.6 VRAC is expressed in COS-7 cell line. A)** Single plane confocal immunofluorescence image of low confluence COS-7 cells. Immunofluorescence analysis of LRCC8A displays a strong specific signal in COS-7 line, by using the anti-LRRC8A n.3 (in red). **B)** Immunoblot of total COS-7 protein lysate. Whole cell extract from COS-7 cells was assayed by western blot using anti-LRRC8A antibody n.2. Data show a strong immunoreactive double band around 95 kDa, probably assimilated to a different glycosylation pattern or peculiar LRRC8A protein isoforms. **C)** Confocal micrograph of one COS-7 cell co-transfected with LRRC8A and GFP, denoting a strong immunolabeling, mirroring LRRC8A over expression (red) and positive transfection control (GFP,green).

## 4.7 VRAC is expressed in rat cultured cortical astrocytes and mediates typical hypotonic-induced chloride currents.

Abundant results in the literature demonstrated that AQP4, TRPV4 and VRAC play a pivotal role in CNS volume regulation, but little is known about VRAC expression in the brain. We next studied the expression of LRRC8A, the essential sub-unit of VRAC in cultured rat cortical astrocytes from new born rats. Sub-confluent astrocytes were immunolabeled with anti-LRRC8A n.3 and nuclei stained with DAPI. The single plane confocal imaging of the signal typically observed in cultured astrocytes, depicted in figure 4.7 A, revealed that the expression of LRRC8A is very strong. Immunoblot analysis of total astrocytic protein lysate, showed an intense immunoreactive band around 95kDa, the predicted LRRC8A molecular weight, confirming the elevated expression of the VRAC-protein sub-unit in cultured astrocytes. Moreover, astrocytes co-labeled for GFAP and LRRC8A confirmed the purity of the astroglial culture, since GFAP is a specific astrocytic marker. Note the clear LRRC8A immunostaining, principally localized in the plasma membrane, as depicted by the lack of overlay signal in the merge (Fig. 4.7 C, right panel)between GFAP signal (Fig. 4.7 C, left panel) and LRRC8A (Fig. 4.7 C, middle panel). In parallel, astrocytes in figure 4.7 panel D, stimulated with ramp protocol in the inset, described for figure 4.2) display the typical hypotonicinduced VRAC current previously described in cortical astrocytes.



Figure 4.7 VRAC is molecularly expressed in rat cortical astrocytes, which show the typical VRAC current. A) Single plane confocal immunofluorescence image of primary rat cortical astrocytes. Immunofluorescence analysis of LRCC8A displays a strong specific signal in astrocytes which is absent when the antibody targeting LRRC8A is omitted or when co-incubated with peptide control (data not shown). B) Immunoblot of total astrocytic protein lysate. Whole cell extract from pure cultured astroglial cells was assayed by western blot using anti-LRRC8A antibody. Data show a strong immunoreactive double band around 95 kDa, probably assimilated to a different glycosylation pattern or peculiar LRRC8A protein isoforms. C) Confocal analysis was performed on subconfluent astrocytes co-immunolabeled for glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, green) and LRRC8A (red). This staining confirmed the purity of the astroglial culture, since GFAP is a specific astrocytic marker. Note the clear LRRC8A immunostaining, principally localized in the plasma membrane, as depicted by the lack of overlay signal between GFPA and LRRC8A. D) Representative traces of whole-cell currents evoked by a repetitive stimulation with a protocol delivered every 10 s (inset) that from a Vh of 0 mV hyperpolarizes the membrane potential to -80 mV for 3 s before the application of a 5-s depolarizing ramp to +80 mV. Current traces were recorded using Cs<sup>+</sup> containing isotonic intracellular solution upon perfusion with extracellular saline (Isotonic), following hypotonic challenge (Hypotonic;  $\Delta = -60$  mOsm/kg) and after addition of 100 mM carbenoxolone, a classical VRAC inhibitor, to the hypotonic saline bath.

### 4.8 VRAC is expressed in the mouse brain, especially in astrocytes.

In order to address the expression pattern of VRAC in the brain, immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy, immunogold electron microscopy and western blot experiments were performed. Sagittal sections from the adult mouse brain were immune-labeled with an anti-LRRC8A (Fig. 4.8, A-D, red) as specified in "material and methods". We focused on the expression in astrocytes, since these cells are the most important when it comes to volume regulation in the brain. Thus, the sections were co-stained for the astrocytic marker GFAP (Fig. 4.8, A-D, green). Confocal microscopy analysis shows a specific labeling in the mouse brain, particularly in the cortex parenchima as well as in the cortical surface. Nevertheless, co-localization of the astrocytic marker GFAP and LRRC8A indicate that VRAC is highly expressed in astrocytes, especially at astrocytic endfeet facing upper and lower pial surfaces (also in the lower surface) and at those enwrapping blood vessels. Notably, the expression in non-GFAP cells of LRRC8A indicated the protein is expressed also in other brain cells.

To analyze sub-cellular localization of LRRC8A, immunogold experiments were performed, coupled with electron microscopy analysis. As shown in figure 4.8 E the signal mirroring VRAC expression (using an anti-LRRC8A), is localized at astrocytic end feet, facing blood vessels. Molecular expression of LRRC8A in brain regions was also investigated performing immunoblot experiments. As depicted in figure 4.8 F, the antibody recognize a band at 95 kDa in all the analyzed brain regions and noteworthy, the plasma membrane fractions of brain regions (hippocampus and parietal cortex) showed a strong and clear immune-reactive band, indicating that LRRC8A is localized at the plasma membrane.



**Figure 4.8** LRRC8A molecular expression in the mouse brain. A) Single plane confocal immunofluorescence image of sagittal cryosection of mouse brain. Immunofluorescence photomicrographs of cortical section coincubated with anti-GFAP (green), anti-LRRC8A (red) and merge reveal immunolabeling of astroglial cells throughout the tissue. The staining is more evident at astrocytic end feet facing upper and lower pial surfaces (**B** and **C**) and at those enwrapping blood vessels (**A** and **B**, arrows). **E**) Immunogold electron microscopy analysis of LRRC8A expression in CNS. Electron microscopy of post embedded cortical sections. High magnification images of two different blood vessels of cerebral cortex. Astrocytic endfeet is labeled with immunogold particles reflecting the expression of LRRC8A. **F**) Immunoblot of total and plasma membrane fraction (PM) of homogenised brain regions. The custom antibody vs LRRC8A recognizes an immunoreactive band around 95 kDA. In PM samples a strong and clear band is detected at 95 kDa. (Hipp: Hippocampus; PCx: Parietal Cortex; FCx: Frontal Cortex; Mb: Middle Brain; St: Substantia Nigra; Cb: Cerebellum).

# PART IV DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The main findings and contribution to theory of my PhD project are the following:

1-the functional antagonism between TRPV4 and VRAC in a heterologous system, previously reported in HEK-293 cells (98), can be overcome by co-expression of AQP4 and TRPV4.

2-The evidence that a D184E mutation of the M1 isoform of AQP4 gene impair the molecular interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4.

3-The definition of the expression pattern of LRRC8A subunits, underpinning VRAC conductance (REF), in COS-7 heterologous system, in astrocytes and in the mouse brain. AQP4, TRPV4 and VRAC play a major role in cell volume regulation, particularly in the brain (18, 65). The majority of cell volume regulation occurs at the expense of astrocytes, thereby preserving the nerve cell volume. Regulatory volume decrease (RVD) and regulatory volume increase (RVI) are general homeostatic negative feedback mechanisms used by organisms to respond to anisotonic conditions. At present it is belived that AQP4 and TRPV4 are involved in the osmosensing and transduction mechanisms in astrocytes (17), while VRAC seems to be, together with potassium channels, the main effector in RVD (Hoffmann 2009; Nilius 1997). Moreover, it has been shown that upon brain injury, astrocytic VRAC activation might promote the release of massive amounts of organic molecules such as excitatory amino acids, glutamate and aspartate, which in turn may lead to detrimental excitotoxic effects (141, 68, 108, 110).

In this work, we demonstrated that in our COS-7 cell system TRPV4 is responsible for the increasing of calcium under hypotonic conditions, since no response was observed in non-transfected cell. Even though the co-transfection of AQP4 (both M1 and M23 isoforms) did not apparently change the calcium dynamics in terms of peak amplitude, we can clearly notice that the number of oscillations and the total calcium movement is distinct when TRPV4/EGFP and AQP4-M1 or M23 are co-expressed.

Regarding the dramatic down-regulation of VRAC currents when TRPV4 was transfected in COS-7 cells, this intriguing result has been previously observed in HEK-293 cells by Nilius group in 2001 (98). On this regard it is relevant that our data showed that the concomitant expression of AQP4 and TRPV4 restored the hypotonicity-induced VRAC current.

Interestingly, we may suppose that a protein-protein interaction is occurring at this site, where TRPV4 and VRAC may compete for the same protein, which could be indeed AQP4, otherwise TRPV4 and VRAC may physically interact, directly or via macromolecular protein complex. It is plausible to suppose that the complex formation improve the osmosensitivity of TRPV4 due to a faster swelling rate mediated by AQP4 expression. Based on the data reported by Benfenati and colleagues (16, 17), it can be supposed that the co-existence of the 3 proteins is necessary to obtain and efficient cell volume regulation in all the three components, swelling, osmosensation-transduction and effector. However, at present the hypothesis need to be further validated with future experiments on KO mice and by using mutated Isoforms of LRRC8A in heterologous expression. Concerning signaling underpinning possible functional interaction between VRAC and TRPV4, evidently TRPV4 and VRAC have different cascade signaling. It has been shown that ATP signaling cascade regulate both proteins, even though data are still elusive and contradictory. VRAC activation and modulation is linked to ATP: it has been proposed the VRAC might be permeant to ATP in vitro and brain slice (142) although the predicted pore seems to be not large enough to let ATP passage through this channel. Moreover VRAC is inhibited by ATP via open-channel block under physiological voltage conditions (146) and VRAC activity is regulated by ATP (126). A possible explanation of these discrepancy is due to the different systems used for the study that vary from primary astrocytes cell culture, secondary cell line (REF) and brain slice (REF). It has been suggested that intracellular calcium signaling is linked to VRAC regulation and trigger phosphorilation events involving PKC and Ca<sup>++</sup>/calmodulin dependent kinases (2, 87).

It is well known that TRPV4 activation, upon hypotonic stimulus, increases intracellular calcium, which is required to trigger a calcium-dependent VRAC current fraction. Whether this calcium waves are essential in RVD is still under debate. We have demonstrated in cortical rat astrocytes that TRPV4 is essential for RVD, even though other groups found the activation of TRPV4 is essential for osmosensation but not for RVD (93, 86). We have to point the fact that in different cellular system, the role of hypotonic-activated calcium signals may have different roles. Nevertheless, astrocytes in vivo are a very heterogeneous population,

which may differently responds to hypotonicity. On this regards, our group shows indeed that not all the astrocytes in the rat brain express TRPV4 (16, 17), and not all the astrocytes responds to hypotonic challenge with the same calcium dynamics (25). Recently, a functional interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4 has been demonstrated in Muller glia (66), underlining the importance of the interaction of these two players in RVD.

Our group provided in vitro evidence that functional interaction between AQP4 and VRAC may occur in cortical rat astrocytes, as genetic knockout of aquaporin 4, reduced VRAC currents (19). This interaction might be ATP-dependent, since the supplement of ATP in the internal solution in the patch-clamp experiment, restored the hypotonic-induced VRAC current (19). Concerning TRPV4, it was reported that TRPV4 evokes ATP release in several systems (162), underlining a link between TRPV4 and purinergic receptor activation during RVD. It would be interesting in the near future to investigate the ATP-dependency in the mechanisms that synergically regulate AQP4, TRPV4 and VRAC activity.

Taking advantage from the fact that LRRC8A has been reported as an essential sub-unit for VRAC, it will be interesting to study molecular interactions between VRAC and other protein channels, including aquaporins and TRPV4. Noteworthy, the three proteins may be part of the same plasma membrane microdomain or lipid rafts, and they all seems able to interact with the cellular cytoskeleton, through the mediation of specific molecules and binding domains. For aquaporin-4, the mechanism by which AQP4 anchors to the cytoskeleton is well understood and involves an interaction with alpha-syntrophin, a member of the dystrophin complex (4) via PDZ binding domain sequence (92). TRPV4 directly interact with the cytoskeleton at different levels, the first like was discovered observing that microtubule-associated protein 7 (MAP7) interacts with actin microfilaments and enhances TRPV4 presence in the plasma membrane and activity (137). The binding of MAP7 was proposed to be at the channel c-tail. Moreover, TRPV4 interact with F-actin and this interaction is essential to support channel activation following cell swelling (15). TRPV4 displays a PDZ binding site, linked to ZO-1, similarly to Kir 4.1 and AQP4. The last 4 amino acids of TRPV4 in position 868-871 contain indeed a C-terminal PDZ domain (44).

VRAC also interact with the actin skeleton, as a reorganization of the F-actin has been demonstrated (144). Moreover, it is well documented that leucine-rich repetitive domains mediate diverse protein-protein interactions (71; 1). It is thus conceivable that LRRC8 protein may act as scaffold function to bring signaling inside the cell, maybe also independently from VRAC activity (164).

Interestingly, Benfenati and colleagues have shown a physical interaction between the two proteins in 2011 and interestingly this mutation seems to affect this interaction. This AQP4 mutation was found in a deaf patient. AQP4 in inner ear is present exclusively in non neuronal cells. AQP4-KO -/- mouse has a hearing deficit or a complete hearing loss, depending on the genetic background (79). It has been speculated that this deficit is due to a loss of osmotic equilibration in epithelial cells in the organ of Corti. Here we additionally demonstrated that a D184E mutation in the aquaporin-4 gene lead to an impaired molecular interaction between AQP4 and TRPV4.

The D184E mutation cause a reduced water permeability of AQP4, which seemed to be ascribed to a modified D-loop conformity in the protein, giving the propensity to equilibrate in a more "closed conformation" (95). It has to be highlighted that Nicchia's group showed in terms of supra-structure organization, that this mutation seems to increase the tendency of AQP4 to form dimmers, even though major alterations in orthogonal array of particles have not been identified. We cannot although rule out the possibility the mutation might affect the OAPs dynamics and the interaction properties with other proteins. It is well known that the M23 isoform of AQP4 is responsible for the OAPs formation, since M1 alone is not capable to form higher complex structures. Indeed M23 isoform can include AQP4-M1 by heterotetramer formation. Live cell imaging indicate that the mechanism of OAP assembly by M23 involve tetramer-tetramer interactions between the N-terminal amino acid residues (30). Moreover, Verkman's group in 2012 showed that the OAP formation by AQP4-M23 involves hydrophobic intermolecular interaction of N-terminal AQP4 residues downstream of Met-23, indicating the inability of AQP4-M1 to form the same interactions (149).

In this context, our data indicate that the D184E mutation lead to an impaired TRPV4-AQP4 interaction just in the M1 isoform, indicating a possible involvement of the first 22 amino acid residues in the molecular interaction between TRPV4 and AQP4. We cannot rule out the possibility that the dimerization effect seen by Nicchia's group might "compete" with the TRPV4 interaction. Similarly to the paper from Nicchia's group, we showed no significant difference in the membrane expression of mutated AQP4-M1 in the plasma membrane, whereas a 50% decrease in the TRPV4 expression may indicate that protein expression of TRPV4 is somehow link to AQP4, and could be another explanation for the decreased TRPV4-AQP4 interaction. Eventually, it will also be interesting to investigate whether the mutation can affect phosphorilation of AQP4, since the D184E mutation is located between two phosphorilation sites, Ser-180 and Ser-188, which regulates AQP4 phosphorilations occurs *in vivo*.

Beside the importance of the results described above, we believe that the main results of the present PhD work is the demonstration, for the first time of the molecular expression of LRRC8A in astrocytes, with different techniques. By using two custom designed antibodies against LRRC8A, we provide evidence that LRRC8A is expressed in primary rat cortical astrocytes, by immunofluorescence and western blot analyses. Notably, we also demonstrated *in situ* expression of LRRC8A in the mouse brain by immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy, immunoblotting and immunogold and electron microscopy. Interestingly, our results suggested that LRRC8A is expressed at higher levels in astrocytes, particularly at perivascular astrocytes and in the astrocytic membranes facing pial surfaces. This expression pattern resemble the TRPV4 location in the rat brain (16), indicating that the two protein might cooperate in astrocytes to maintain volume homeostasis in the CNS. Nevertheless, specific staining is present in non-GFAP cells in the brain, and in other cell types in other tissue we tested (data not shown) confirming the ubiquitarious presence of VRAC in other cellular types. Negative control experiments for the custom antibodies has also been including, such as incubation with peptide control and omission of detergents in

the Immunofluorescence preparation, since the epitope is intracellular (data not shown). The latter control provide an evidence that the signal on the plasma membrane is specific since non-permeabilization of brain tissue or cultured cortical astrocytes display negligible signal (data not shown).

It has to be underlined that the involvement of astroglial channels in osmoregulation may be different in physiological and pathological states. Indeed, alteration in cell volume occurs in response to neuronal activity, which cause ionic imbalance and osmotically driven fluxes through the plasma membrane (8, 13, 54, 18). Thus AQP4, TRPV4 and VRAC may act and interact differently depending on the physiological or pathological condition. In the light of this is important to further investigate the functional interactions in the same conditions and pay attention to kinetics processes. An example is the study conducted by Nicchia and co-workers where they show the role of AQP4 in facilitating the kinetics flux of water inside the cell, thus triggering RVD (86). Moreover, it is reported that swelling-induced activation of VRAC occurs at the moment where cell volume exceed a note threshold, which, in isolated cells correspond to a 30%-50% volume increase (105).

In conclusion, the results of my PhD studies provide new insights into key molecular and functional player involved central nervous system homeostatic volume regulation. In particular they suggested and reinforce the tenet that a macromolecular complex or a straight functional interaction between TRPV4, AQP4 and VRAC might be essential for the cell volume regulation. The study of ion channels and aquaporins will lead to a better understanding of CNS physiology and possibly to the identification of molecular target for the treatment of pathological states, such as brain edema or epilepsy, for which actual therapies are mostly ineffective.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Abascal F, Zardoya R. LRRC8 proteins share a common ancestor with pannexins, and may form hexameric channels involved in cell-cell communication. Bioessays. 2012
- 2. Akita T, Okada Y. Characteristics and roles of the volume-sensitive outwardly rectifying (VSOR) anion channel in the central nervous system. Neuroscience. 2014
- 3. Allen NJ, Barres BA. Neuroscience: Glia more than just brain glue. Nature. 2009
- 4. Amiry-Moghaddam M, Frydenlund DS, Ottersen OP. Anchoring of aquaporin-4 in brain: molecular mechanisms and implications for the physiology and pathophysiology of water transport. Neuroscience. 2004
- Amiry-Moghaddam M, Otsuka T, Hurn PD, Traystman RJ, Haug FM, Froehner SC, Adams ME, Neely JD, Agre P, Ottersen OP, Bhardwaj A. An alpha-syntrophin-dependent pool of AQP4 in astroglial end-feet confers bidirectional water flow between blood and brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003
- 6. Amiry-Moghaddam M, Williamson A, Palomba M, Eid T, de Lanerolle NC, Nagelhus EA, Adams ME, Froehner SC, Agre P, Ottersen OP. Delayed K+ clearance associated with aquaporin-4 mislocalization: phenotypic defects in brains of alpha-syntrophin-null mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003
- 7. Amiry-Moghaddam M, Xue R, Haug FM, Neely JD, Bhardwaj A, Agre P, Adams ME, Froehner SC, Mori S, Ottersen OP. Alpha-syntrophin deletion removes the perivascular but not endothelial pool of aquaporin-4 at the blood-brain barrier and delays the development of brain edema in an experimental model of acute hyponatremia. FASEB J. 2004 (only material)
- 8. Andrew RD, MacVicar BA. Imaging cell volume changes and neuronal excitation in the hippocampal slice. Neuroscience. 1994
- 9. Andrew RD. Seizure and acute osmotic change: clinical and neurophysiological aspects. J Neurol Sci. 1991
- 10. Arlati S, Storti E, Pradella V, Bucci L, Vitolo A, Pulici M. (2007). Decreased fluidvolume to reduce organ damage: a new approach to burn shock resuscitation? Apreliminary study. Resuscitation.
- 11. Arniges M, Vázquez E, Fernández-Fernández JM, Valverde MA. Swelling-activated Ca2+ entry via TRPV4 channel is defective in cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. J Biol Chem. 2004
- 12. Bahn YS, Xue C, Idnurm A, Rutherford JC, Heitman J, Cardenas ME. (2007). Sensing the environment: lessons from fungi. Nat Rev Microbiol.
- 13. Ballanyi K, Grafe P, Serve G, Schlue WR. Electrophysiological measurements of volume changes in leech neuropile glial cells. Glia. 1990
- 14. Beck F, Dörge A, Rick R, Thurau K. (1985). Osmoregulation of renal papillary cells. Pflugers Arch.
- 15. Becker D, Bereiter-Hahn J, Jendrach M. Functional interaction of the cation channel transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) and actin in volume regulation. Eur J Cell Biol. 2009
- Benfenati V, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Caprini M, Mylonakou MN, Rapisarda C, Ottersen OP, Ferroni S. Expression and functional characterization of transient receptor potential vanilloid-related channel 4 (TRPV4) in rat cortical astrocytes. Neuroscience. 2007
- 17. Benfenati V, Caprini M, Dovizio M, Mylonakou MN, Ferroni S, Ottersen OP, Amiry-Moghaddam M. An aquaporin-4/transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (AQP4/TRPV4) complex is essential for cell-volume control in astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011
- 18. Benfenati V, Ferroni S. Water transport between CNS compartments: functional and molecular interactions between aquaporins and ion channels. Neuroscience. 2010
- 19. Benfenati V, Nicchia GP, Svelto M, Rapisarda C, Frigeri A, Ferroni S. Functional down-regulation of volumeregulated anion channels in AQP4 knockdown cultured rat cortical astrocytes. J Neurochem. 2007
- 20. Binder DK, Oshio K, Ma T, Verkman AS, Manley GT. Increased seizure threshold in mice lacking aquaporin-4 water channels. Neuroreport. 2004
- 21. Binder DK, Yao X, Zador Z, Sick TJ, Verkman AS, Manley GT. Increased seizure duration and slowed potassium kinetics in mice lacking aquaporin-4 water channels. Glia. 2006
- 22. Bond SR, Naus CC. The pannexins: past and present. Front Physiol. 2014
- 23. Browe DM, Baumgarten CM. (2003). Stretch of beta 1 integrin activates an outwardlyrectifying chloride current via FAK and Src in rabbit ventricular myocytes. J GenPhysiol.
- 24. Burg MB. (2000). Macromolecular crowding as a cell volume sensor. Cell PhysiolBiochem.
- 25. Butenko O, Dzamba D, Benesova J, Honsa P, Benfenati V, Rusnakova V, Ferroni S, Anderova M. The increased activity of TRPV4 channel in the astrocytes of the adult rat hippocampus after cerebral hypoxia/ischemia. PLoS One. 2012

- 26. Butt AM, Kalsi A. Inwardly rectifying potassium channels (Kir) in central nervous system glia: a special role for Kir4.1 in glial functions. J Cell Mol Med. 2006
- 27. Cai S, Pestic-Dragovich L, O'Donnell ME, Wang N, Ingber D, Elson E, De Lanerolle P. (1998). *Regulation of cytoskeletal mechanics and cell growth by myosin light chain phosphorylation*. Am J Physiol.
- 28. Calderwood DA. (2004) Integrin activation. J Cell Sci.
- 29. Connors NC, Adams ME, Froehner SC, Kofuji P. The potassium channel Kir4.1 associates with the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex via alpha-syntrophin in glia. J Biol Chem. 2004
- Crane JM, Tajima M, Verkman AS. Live-cell imaging of aquaporin-4 diffusion and interactions in orthogonal arrays of particles. Neuroscience. 2010 Jul 28;168(4):892-902. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.08.034. Epub 2009 Aug
- 31. D'amato L, Di Porzio U. Introduzione alla neurobiologia. Springer Verlag, 2010
- 32. De Angelis E, Petronini PG, Borghetti P, Borghetti AF, Wheeler KP. (1999). *Inductionof betaine-gamma-aminobutyric acid transport activity in porcine chondrocytesexposed to hypertonicity*. J Physiol.
- 33. Di Ciano C, Nie Z, Szászi K, Lewis A, Uruno T, Zhan X, Rotstein OD, Mak A, Kapus A. (2002). Osmotic stress-induced remodeling of the cortical cytoskeleton. Am JPhysiol Cell Physiol
- 34. Dibaj P, Kaiser M, Hirrlinger J, Kirchhoff F, Neusch C. Kir4.1 channels regulate swelling of astroglial processes in experimental spinal cord edema. J Neurochem. 2007
- 35. Dua RK, Devi BI, Yasha TC. Increased expression of Aquaporin-4 and its correlation with contrast enhancement and perilesional edema in brain tumors. Br J Neurosurg 24: 454–459, 2010
- 36. Ebner HL, Cordas A, Pafundo DE, Schwarzbaum PJ, Pelster B, Krumschnabel G. (2005). *Importance of cytoskeletal elements in volume regulatory responses of trouthepatocytes*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol
- 37. Eid T, Lee TS, Thomas MJ, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Bjornsen LP, Spencer DD, Agre P, Ottersen OP, de Lanerolle NC. Loss of perivascular aquaporin-4 may underlie deficient water and K+ homeostasis in the human epileptogenic hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005
- 38. Elia G. Cell surface protein biotinylation for SDS-PAGE analysis. Methods Mol Biol. 2012
- 39. Ferroni S, Marchini C, Nobile M, Rapisarda C. Characterization of an inwardly rectifying chloride conductance expressed by cultured rat cortical astrocytes. Glia. 1997
- 40. Ferroni S, Marchini C, Schubert P, Rapisarda C. Two distinct inwardly rectifying conductances are expressed in long term dibutyryl-cyclic-AMP treated rat cultured cortical astrocytes. FEBS Lett. 1995
- 41. Friedman B, Schachtrup C, Tsai PS, Shih AY, Akassoglou K, Kleinfeld D, Lyden PD. Acute vascular disruption and aquaporin 4 loss after stroke. Stroke 40: 2182–2190, 2009
- Frigeri A, Gropper MA, Umenishi F, Kawashima M, Brown D, Verkman AS. Localization of MIWC and GLIP water channel homologs in neuromuscular, epithelial and glandular tissues. J Cell Sci 108: 2993–3002, 1995
- 43. Frydenlund DS, Bhardwaj A, Otsuka T, Mylonakou MN, Yasumura T, Davidson KG, Zeynalov E, Skare O, Laake P, Haug FM, Rash JE, Agre P, Ottersen OP, Amiry-Moghaddam M. Temporary loss of perivascular aquaporin-4 in neocortex after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103: 13532–13536, 2006
- 44. Garcia-Elias A, Lorenzo IM, Vicente R, Valverde MA. IP3 receptor binds to and sensitizes TRPV4 channel to osmotic stimuli via a calmodulin-binding site. J Biol Chem. 2008
- 45. Graeber MB and Streit WJ (2010) Microglia: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol; 89–105.
- 46. Grynkiewicz G, Poenie M, Tsien RY. A new generation of Ca2+ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J Biol Chem. 1985
- 47. Güler AD, Lee H, Iida T, Shimizu I, Tominaga M, Caterina M. Heat-evoked activation of the ion channel, TRPV4. J Neurosci. 2002
- 48. Halassa MM, Fellin T, Haydon PG. The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. Trends Mol Med. 2007 (IMMAGINE)
- 49. Hallows KR, Packman CH, Knauf PA. (1991). Acute cell volume changes in anisotonicmedia affect F-actin content of HL-60 cells. Am J Physiol.
- 50. Hamill OP, Marty A, Neher E, Sakmann B, Sigworth FJ. Improved patch-clamp techniques for high-resolution current recording from cells and cell-free membrane patches. Pflugers Arch. 1981
- 51. Häussinger D, Schliess F. (2008). Pathogenetic mechanisms of hepatic encephalopathy. Gut.
- 52. Haydon PG. GLIA: listening and talking to the synapse. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001
- 53. Heller JP, Rusakov DA. Morphological plasticity of astroglia: Understanding synaptic microenvironment. Glia. 2015 (IMMAGINE)
- 54. HILL DK. The volume change resulting from stimulation of a giant nerve fibre. J Physiol. 1950
- 55. Hoffmann EK, Lambert IH, Pedersen SF (2009) *Physiology of cell volume regulation in vertebrates*. Physiol Rev 89:193–277

- 56. Hoffmann, Else Kay; Mills, John W. (1999). *Membrane Events Involved in Volume Regulation* In: Current Topics in Membranes, No. 48, p. 123-196.
- 57. http://jonlieffmd.com/blog/are-microglia-the-most-intelligent-brain-cells
- 58. http://neurowiki2014.wikidot.com/individual:oligodendrocytes-in-amyotrophic-lateral-sclerosis
- 59. http://www.neurology.org/content/82/15/1374/F1.expansion.html
- 60. https://1mobila.ru/astrocytes-cells.php
- 61. Iliff JJ, Wang M, Liao Y, Plogg BA, Peng W, Gundersen GA, Benveniste H, Vates GE, Deane R, Goldman SA, Nagelhus EA, Nedergaard M. A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid beta. Sci Transl Med, 2012
- 62. Ise T, Shimizu T, Lee EL, Inoue H, Kohno K, Okada Y. (2005). *Roles of volume-sensitiveCl- channel in cisplatin-induced apoptosis in human epidermoid cancer cells.* JMembr Biol.
- 63. Iwasa K, Tasaki I, Gibbons RC. (1980). Swelling of nerve fibers associated with actionpotentials. Science.
- 64. Jagger DJ, Forge A. The enigmatic root cell emerging roles contributing tofluid homeostasis within the cochlear outer sulcus. Hear Res. 2013
- 65. Jentsch TJ. VRACs and other ion channels and transporters in the regulation of cell volume and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016 May; 17(5):293-307. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.29. Epub 2016
- Jo AO, Ryskamp DA, Phuong TT, Verkman AS, Yarishkin O, MacAulay N, Križaj D. TRPV4 and AQP4 Channels Synergistically Regulate Cell Volume and Calcium Homeostasis in Retinal Müller Glia. J Neurosci. 2015
- 67. Kager H, Wadman WJ, Somjen GG. Simulated seizures and spreading depression in a neuron model incorporating interstitial space and ion concentrations. J Neurophysiol. 2000
- 68. Kimelberg HK, Goderie SK, Higman S, Pang S, Waniewski RA. Swelling-induced release of glutamate, aspartate, and taurine from astrocyte cultures. J Neurosci.1990
- 69. Kimelberg HK, Macvicar BA, Sontheimer H. Anion channels in astrocytes: biophysics, pharmacology, and function. Glia. 2006
- 70. Kitchen P, Day RE, Taylor LH, Salman MM, Bill RM, Conner MT, Conner AC. Identification and Molecular Mechanisms of the Rapid Tonicity-induced Relocalization of the Aquaporin 4 Channel. J Biol Chem. 2015
- 71. Kobe B, Kajava AV. The leucine-rich repeat as a protein recognition motif. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2001
- 72. Lambert IH, Hoffmann EK, Pedersen SF. (2008). Cell *volume regulation: physiology andpathophysiology*. Acta Physiol (Oxf).
- 73. Lang F, Busch GL, Ritter M, Völki H, Waldegger S, Gulbins E, Häussinger D (1998) Functional significance of cell volume regulatory mechanisms. Physiol Rev 78:247–306
- 74. Lang F. (2007). Mechanisms and significance of cell volume regulation. J Am Coll Nutr.
- 75. Law RO. *The role of taurine in the regulation of brain cell volume inchronically hyponatraemic rats*. (1998). Neurochem Int.
- 76. Levitan I, Almonte C, Mollard P, Garber SS. (1995) *Modulation of a volume-regulated chloride current by Factin.* J Membr Biol.
- 77. Levite M, Cahalon L, Peretz A, Hershkoviz R, Sobko A, Ariel A, Desai R, Attali B, Lider O. (2000). *Extracellular K(+) and opening of voltage-gated potassium channelsactivate T cell integrin function: physical and functional association betweenKv1.3 channels and beta1 integrins.* J Exp Med.
- 78. Lewis A, Di Ciano C, Rotstein OD, Kapus A. (2002). Osmotic stress activates Rac andCdc42 in neutrophils: role in hypertonicity-induced actin polymerization. Am JPhysiol Cell Physiol.
- 79. Li J, Verkman AS. Impaired hearing in mice lacking aquaporin-4 water channels. J Biol Chem. 2001 Aug 17;276(33):31233-7. Epub 2001
- 80. Liedtke W. (2006). Transient receptor potential vanilloid channels functioning intransduction of osmotic stimuli. J Endocrinol.
- 81. Mao J, Wang L, Fan A, Wang J, Xu B, Jacob TJ, Chen L (2007) Blockage of volume-activated chloride channels inhibits migration of nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 19:249–258
- 82. Marinelli RA, LaRusso NF. (1997). Aquaporin water channels in liver: their significance in bile formation. Hepatology.
- 83. Maroto R, Raso A, Wood TG, Kurosky A, Martinac B, Hamill OP. (2005). *TRPC1 forms thestretch-activated cation channel in vertebrate cells*. Nat Cell Biol.
- 84. Matthews JB, Smith JA, Mun EC, Sicklick JK. (1998). *Osmotic regulation of intestinalepithelial Na*(+)-*K*(+)-*Cl- cotransport: role of Cl- and F-actin. Am J Physiol.*
- 85. Maunsbach AB, Marples D, Chin E, Ning G, Bondy C, Agre P, Nielsen S. (1997). *Aquaporin-1 water channel expression in human kidney*. J Am Soc Nephrol. Jan;8(1):1-14. Erratum in: J Am Soc Nephrol
- 86. Mola MG, Sparaneo A, Gargano CD, Spray DC, Svelto M, Frigeri A, Scemes E, Nicchia GP. The speed of swelling kinetics modulates cell volume regulation and calcium signaling in astrocytes: A different point of view on the role of aquaporins. Glia. 2016

- 87. Mongin AA, Kimelberg HK. ATP potently modulates anion channel-mediated excitatory amino acid release from cultured astrocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2002
- 88. Mongin AA, Kimelberg HK. ATP regulates anion channel-mediated organic osmolytes release from cultured rat astrocytes via multiple Ca2+-sensitive mechanisms. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2005
- 89. Mongin AA. Volume-regulated anion channel--a frenemy within the brain. Pflugers Arch. 2016
- 90. Nagelhus EA, Horio Y, Inanobe A, Fujita A, Haug FM, Nielsen S, Kurachi Y, Ottersen OP. Immunogold evidence suggests that coupling of K+ siphoning and water transport in rat retinal Müller cells is mediated by a coenrichment of Kir4.1 and AQP4 in specific membrane domains. Glia. 1999
- 91. Nagelhus EA, Ottersen OP. Physiological roles of aquaporin-4 in brain. Physiol Rev. 2013
- 92. Neely JD, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Ottersen OP, Froehner SC, Agre P, Adams ME. Syntrophin-dependent expression and localization of Aquaporin-4 water channel protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001
- Netti V, Fernández J, Kalstein M, Pizzoni A, Di Giusto G, Rivarola V, Ford P, Capurro C. TRPV4 Contributes to Resting Membrane Potential in Retinal Müller Cells: Implications in Cell Volume Regulation. J Cell Biochem. 2017
- 94. Neuroglia, Helmut Kettenmann, Bruce R. Ransom Oxford University Press, USA, 2005
- 95. Nicchia GP, Ficarella R, Rossi A, Giangreco I, Nicolotti O, Carotti A, Pisani F, Estivill X, Gasparini P, Svelto M, Frigeri A. D184E mutation in aquaporin-4 gene impairs water permeability and links to deafness. Neuroscience. 2011
- Nielsen S, Nagelhus EA, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Bourque C, Agre P, Ottersen OP. Specialized membrane domains for water transport in glial cells: high-resolution immunogold cytochemistry of aquaporin-4 in rat brain. J Neurosci. 1997
- 97. Nilius B, Eggermont J, Voets T, Buyse G, Manolopoulos V, Droogmans G. Properties of volume-regulated anion channels in mammalian cells. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 1997
- 98. Nilius B, Prenen J, Wissenbach U, Bödding M, Droogmans G. Differential activation of the volume-sensitive cation channel TRP12 (OTRPC4) and volume-regulated anion currents in HEK-293 cells. Pflugers Arch. 2001
- 99. Noell S, Wolburg-Buchholz K, Mack AF, Ritz R, Tatagiba M, Beschorner R, Wolburg H, Fallier-Becker P. Dynamics of expression patterns of AQP4, dystroglycan, agrin and matrix metalloproteinases in human glioblastoma. Cell Tissue Res 347: 429–441, 2012
- 100.Noulin JF, Brochiero E, Lapointe JY, Laprade R. (1999). Two types of K(+) channels at the basolateral membrane of proximal tubule: inhibitory effect of taurine. Am JPhysiol.
- 101.Numata T, Shimizu T, Okada Y. (2007). *TRPM7 is a stretch- and swelling-activatedcation channel involved in volume regulation in human epithelial cells*. Am JPhysiol Cell Physiol.
- 102.O'Connor ER, Kimelberg HK. Role of calcium in astrocyte volume regulation and in the release of ions and amino acids. J Neurosci. 1993
- 103.Okada Y, Maeno E, Shimizu T, Dezaki K, Wang J, Morishima S. Receptor-mediated control of regulatory volume decrease (RVD) and apoptotic volume decrease (AVD). J Physiol. 2001
- 104.Okada Y, Sato K, Numata T. Pathophysiology and puzzles of the volume-sensitive outwardly rectifying anion channel. J Physiol. 2009
- 105.Okada Y. Volume expansion-sensing outward-rectifier Cl- channel: fresh start to the molecular identity and volume sensor. Am J Physiol. 1997
- 106.O'Neil RG, Heller S. (2005). The mechanosensitive nature of TRPV channels. Pflugers Arch.
- 107.Parkerson KA, Sontheimer H. Biophysical and pharmacological characterization of hypotonically activated chloride currents in cortical astrocytes. Glia. 2004
- 108.Pasantes-Morales H, Chacón E, Sánchez-Olea R, Morán J. (1994). Volume regulation in cultured neurons: pivotal role of taurine. Adv Exp Med Biol.
- 109.Pasantes-Morales H, Morales Mulia S. Influence of calcium on regulatory volume decrease: role of potassium channels. Nephron. 2000
- 110.Pasantes-Morales H, Murray RA, Sánchez-Olea R, Morán J. Regulatory volume decrease in cultured astrocytes. II. Permeability pathway to amino acids and polyols. Am J Physiol. 1994
- 111.Pedersen SF, Nilius B. (2007). Transient receptor potential channels in mechanosensing and cell volume regulation. Methods Enzymol.
- 112.Pedersen SF, O'Donnell ME, Anderson SE, Cala PM. (2006). *Physiology and pathophysiology of Na+/H+ exchange and Na+ -K+ -2Cl- cotransport in the heart, brain, and blood*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.
- 113.Pedersen SF, Okada Y, Nilius B. Biophysics and Physiology of the Volume-Regulated Anion Channel (VRAC)/Volume-Sensitive Outwardly Rectifying Anion Channel (VSOR). Pflugers Arch. 2016
- 114. Ponder, E. (1948). Hemolysis and Related Phenomena. chap. III. New York: Grune and Stratton.
- 115.Qiu Z, Dubin AE, Mathur J, Tu B, Reddy K, Miraglia LJ, Reinhardt J, Orth AP, Patapoutian A. SWELL1, a plasma membrane protein, is an essential component of volume-regulated anion channel. Cell. 2014
- 116.Ramsey IS, Delling M, Clapham DE. (2006). An introduction to TRP channels. Annu Rev Physiol.
- 117.Ransom CB, O'Neal JT, Sontheimer H (2001) Volume-activated chloride currents contribute to the resting conductance and invasive migration of human glioma cells. J Neurosci
- 118.Rasmussen M, Alexander RT, Darborg BV, Møbjerg N, Hoffmann EK, Kapus A, Pedersen SF. Osmotic cell shrinkage activates ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) proteins: activation mechanisms and physiological implications. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2008
- 119.Rauen T, Taylor WR, Kuhlbrodt K, Wiessner M. High-affinity glutamate transporters in the rat retina: a major role of the glial glutamate transporter GLAST-1 in transmitter clearance. Cell Tissue Res. 1998
- 120.Reiter B, Kraft R, Günzel D, Zeissig S, Schulzke JD, Fromm M, Harteneck C. TRPV4-mediated regulation of epithelial permeability. FASEB J. 2006
- 121.Ren Z, Iliff JJ, Yang L, Yang J, Chen X, Chen MJ, Giese RN, Wang B, Shi X, Nedergaard M. "Hit & Run" model of closed-skull traumatic brain injury (TBI) reveals complex patterns of post-traumatic AQP4 dysregulation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2013
- 122.Ritter M, Schratzberger P, Rossmann H, Wöll E, Seiler K, Seidler U, Reinisch N, Kähler CM, Zwierzina H, Lang HJ, Lang F, Paulmichl M, Wiedermann CJ. (1998). *Effect of inhibitors of Na+/H+-exchange and gastric H+/K+ ATPase on cell volume, intracellular pH and migration of human polymorphonuclear leucocytes*. Br J Pharmacol.
- 123.Rizoli SB, Rotstein OD, Parodo J, Phillips MJ, Kapus A. (2000). *Hypertonic inhibition of exocytosis in neutrophils: central role for osmotic actin skeleton remodeling*. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.
- 124.Robinson MB, Dowd LA. Heterogeneity and functional properties of subtypes of sodium-dependent glutamate transporters in the mammalian central nervous system. Adv Pharmacol. 1997
- 125.Rothstein JD, Dykes-Hoberg M, Pardo CA, Bristol LA, Jin L, Kuncl RW, Kanai Y, Hediger MA, Wang Y, Schielke JP, Welty DF. Knockout of glutamate transporters reveals a major role for astroglial transport in excitotoxicity and clearance of glutamate. Neuron. 1996
- 126.Rudkouskaya A, Chernoguz A, Haskew-Layton RE, Mongin AA. Two conventional protein kinase C isoforms, alpha and beta I, are involved in the ATP-induced activation of volume-regulated anion channel and glutamate release in cultured astrocytes. J Neurochem. 2008
- 127.Schneider L, Klausen TK, Stock C, Mally S, Christensen ST, Pedersen SF, Hoffmann EK, Schwab A. H-ras (2008). *Transformation sensitizes volume-activated anion channels and increases migratory activity of NIH3T3 fibroblasts.* Pflugers Arch.
- 128. Schwab A, Nechyporuk-Zloy V, Fabian A, Stock C. (2007). *Cells move when ions and water flow*. Pflugers Arch.
- 129.Schwab A, Schuricht B, Seeger P, Reinhardt J, Dartsch PC. (1999). *Migration of transformed renal epithelial cells is regulated by K+ channel modulation of actincytoskeleton and cell volume*. Pflugers Arch.
- 130.Seifert G, Schilling K, Steinhäuser C. Astrocyte dysfunction in neurological disorders: a molecular perspective. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006
- 131.Sitprija V. (2008). Altered fluid, electrolyte and mineral status in tropical disease, with an emphasis on malaria and leptospirosis. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol.
- 132. Sonnewald U, Westergaard N, Schousboe A. Glutamate transport and metabolism in astrocytes. Glia. 1997
- 133.Sorani MD, Zador Z, Hurowitz E, Yan D, Giacomini KM, Manley GT. Novel variants in human Aquaporin-4 reduce cellular water permeability. Hum Mol Genet. 2008
- 134.Spassova MA, Hewavitharana T, Xu W, Soboloff J, Gill DL. (2006). A common mechanismunderlies stretch activation and receptor activation of TRPC6 channels. Proc NatlAcad Sci U S A.
- 135.Strange K, Emma F, Jackson PS. Cellular and molecular physiology of volume-sensitive anion channels. Am J Physiol. 1996
- 136.Stüwe L, Müller M, Fabian A, Waning J, Mally S, Noël J, Schwab A, Stock C. (2007). *pH dependence of melanoma cell migration: protons extruded by NHE1 dominate protons of the bulk solution*. J Physiol.
- 137.Suzuki M, Hirao A, Mizuno A. Microtubule-associated [corrected] protein 7 increases the membrane expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4). J Biol Chem. 2003
- 138.Syková E, Chvátal A. Glial cells and volume transmission in the CNS. Neurochem Int. 2000
- 139.Szücs G, Heinke S, Droogmans G, Nilius B. Activation of the volume-sensitive chloride current in vascular endothelial cells requires a permissive intracellular Ca2+ concentration. Pflugers Arch. 1996
- 140. Tabuchi K, Suzuki M, Mizuno A, Hara A. Hearing impairment in TRPV4 knockout mice. Neurosci Lett. 2005
- 141.Takano T, Kang J, Jaiswal JK, Simon SM, Lin JH, Yu Y, Li Y, Yang J, Dienel G, Zielke HR, Nedergaard M. Receptor-mediated glutamate release from volume sensitive channels in astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Nov 8;102(45):16466-71. Epub 2005
- 142. Takano T, Oberheim N, Cotrina ML, Nedergaard M. Astrocytes and ischemic injury. Stroke. 2009
- 143. Tamma G, Procino G, Svelto M, Valenti G. (2007). *Hypotonicity causes actineorganization and recruitment* of the actin-binding ERM protein moesin inmembrane protrusions in collecting duct principal cells. Am J Physiol CellPhysiol.

- 144.Tilly BC, Edixhoven MJ, Tertoolen LG, Morii N, Saitoh Y, Narumiya S, de Jonge HR. Activation of the osmo-sensitive chloride conductance involves P21rho and is accompanied by a transient reorganization of the F-actin cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell. 1996
- 145.Tomas-Camardiel M, Venero JL, Herrera AJ, de Pablos RM, Pintor-Toro JA, Machado A, Cano J.Bloodbrain barrier disruption highly induces aquaporin-4 mRNA and protein in perivascular and parenchymal astrocytes: protective effect by estradiol treatment in ovariectomized animals. J Neurosci Res80: 235–246, 2005
- 146. Tsumura T, Oiki S, Ueda S, Okuma M, Okada Y. Sensitivity of volume-sensitive Cl- conductance in human epithelial cells to extracellular nucleotides. Am J Physiol. 1996
- 147.Vantol BL, Missan S, Crack J, Moser S, Baldridge WH, Linsdell P, Cowley EA. (2007). *Contribution of KCNQ1 to the regulatory volume decrease in the human mammaryepithelial cell line MCF-7*. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.
- 148. Venkatachalam K, Montell C. TRP channels. Annu Rev Biochem. 2007
- 149. Verkman AS, Rossi A, Crane JM. Live-cell imaging of aquaporin-4 supramolecular assembly and diffusion. Methods Enzymol. 2012
- 150. Voss FK, Ullrich F, Münch J, Lazarow K, Lutter D, Mah N, Andrade-Navarro MA, von Kries JP, Stauber T, Jentsch TJ. (2014). *Identification of LRRC8 heteromers as an essential component of the volume-regulated anion channel VRAC*. Science.
- 151. Vriens J, Appendino G, Nilius B. Pharmacology of vanilloid transient receptor potential cation channels. Mol Pharmacol. 2009
- 152.Vriens J, Watanabe H, Janssens A, Droogmans G, Voets T, Nilius B. Cell swelling, heat, and chemical agonists use distinct pathways for the activation of the cation channel TRPV4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004
- 153. Waldegger S, Barth P, Forrest JN Jr, Greger R, Lang F. (1998). *Cloning of sgk serine-threonine protein kinase from shark rectal gland a gene induced by hypertonicity and secretagogues*. Pflugers Arch.
- 154. Waldegger S, Steuer S, Risler T, Heidland A, Capasso G, Massry S, Lang F. (1998). *Mechanisms and clinical significance of cell volume regulation*. Nephrol DialTransplant.
- 155.Walz W, Mukerji S. KCl movements during potassium-induced cytotoxic swelling of cultured astrocytes. Exp Neurol. 1988
- 156. Wang Z, Meng CJ, Shen XM, Shu Z, Ma C, Zhu GQ, Liu HX, He WC, Sun XB, Huo L, Zhang J, Chen G. Potential contribution of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha, aquaporin-4, and matrix metalloproteinase-9 to blood-brain barrier disruption and brain edema after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Mol Neurosci 48: 273–280, 2012
- 157. Waning J, Vriens J, Owsianik G, Stüwe L, Mally S, Fabian A, Frippiat C, Nilius B, Schwab A. (2007). A novel function of capsaicin-sensitive TRPV1 channels: involvement in cell migration. Cell Calcium.
- 158. Watanabe H, Davis JB, Smart D, Jerman JC, Smith GD, Hayes P, Vriens J, Cairns W, Wissenbach U, Prenen J, Flockerzi V, Droogmans G, Benham CD, Nilius B. Activation of TRPV4 channels (hVRL-2/mTRP12) by phorbol derivatives. J Biol Chem.2002
- 159. Watanabe H, Vriens J, Prenen J, Droogmans G, Voets T, Nilius B. Anandamide and arachidonic acid use epoxyeicosatrienoic acids to activate TRPV4 channels. Nature. 2003
- 160.Watanabe M, Fukuda A. Development and regulation of chloride homeostasis in the central nervous system. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015
- 161. Wehner F, Olsen H, Tinel H, Kinne-Saffran E, Kinne RK (2003) *Cell volume regulation: osmolytes, osmolyte transport, and signal transduction.* Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 148:1–80
- 162. White JP, Cibelli M, Urban L, Nilius B, McGeown JG, Nagy I. TRPV4: Molecular Conductor of a Diverse Orchestra. Physiol Rev. 2016
- 163. Wolburg H, Wolburg-Buchholz K, Fallier-Becker P, Noell S, Mack AF. Structure and functions of aquaporin-4-based orthogonal arrays of particles. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 2011
- 164. Yamada T, Wondergem R, Morrison R, Yin VP, Strange K. Leucine-rich repeat containing protein LRRC8A is essential for swelling-activated Cl- currents and embryonic development in zebrafish. Physiol Rep. 2016
- 165.Yancey PH, Burg MB. (1989). Distribution of major organic osmolytes in rabbit kidneys in diuresis and antidiuresis. Am J Physiol.
- 166. Yancey PH, Clark ME, Hand SC, Bowlus RD, Somero GN. (1982). Living with water stress: evolution of osmolyte systems. Science.
- 167. Yang J, Lunde LK, Nuntagij P, Oguchi T, Camassa LM, Nilsson LN, Lannfelt L, Xu Y, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Ottersen OP, Torp R. Loss of astrocyte polarization in the tg-ArcSwe mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 2011
- 168.Yukutake Y, Yasui M. Regulation of water permeability through aquaporin-4. Neuroscience. 2010 Jul 28;168(4):885-91. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.10.029. Epub 2009

## ACKNOLEDGMENTS

I am grateful to the University of Bologna, to the National Research Council and to the Ministry of Education, Universities and Research for providing a stimulating environment that resulted essential for this learning experience.

I am indebted with my tutors Marco Caprini, Valentina Benfenati and Barbara Monti who gave me the opportunity to work in his laboratory. They encouraged and supported me throughout these years introducing me in the world of biological research and teaching me in a professional and friendly atmosphere. A special thanks to Marco who also supported the project by his ordinary fund, when it was necessary.

A special thanks to all the people from the lab such as Alessia, Stefano, Jarmila, Michele, Matteo, Emanuela, Saskia, Federica, Martina and Giorgia that created a smiling and quiet atmosphere and for their help whenever I needed. A special thanks to Emanuela for always being by my side. This PhD is a little bit yours.

I am grateful to Prof. Mahmood Amiry-Moghaddam for have given me the opportunity to spend my part of the PhD programme in his laboratories. It was a great human and professional experience. Thanks to all Mahmood's lab such as Nadia, Shirin, Soulmaz, Bjørg, Doreen, Reidun, Karen Marie, Laura Camassa, Laura Moretti. A special thanks to Rao, a good friend and colleague in Oslo that contributed largely to my professional grow, and thanks for the smiling moments in the lab.

Thanks to my parents, Giuseppe and Angela, and my sister Laura that have supported me in all my decisions. I feel that you are always by my side. Finally a big thanks to all my friends to be present in my life.